

Physiological responses to reduced water availability in potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) crops

A thesis submitted to Lancaster University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

July 2021

Katharina Huntenburg

BSc Horticultural Science, Leibniz University Hannover, Germany MSc International Horticulture, Humboldt University of Berlin,

Germany

Declaration

Except where references are made to other sources, I declare that the contents in this thesis are my own work and have not been previously submitted, in part or full, for the award of a higher degree elsewhere.

Katharina Huntenburg

Lancaster University July 2021

Publications arising from this thesis

Huntenburg K, **Dodd IC**, **Stalham M**, 2021. Agronomic and physiological responses of potato subjected to soil compaction and/or drying, Annals of Applied Biology, 1-13.

This publication forms Chapter 2 of this thesis.

The original publication (open access) is available at:

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/aab.12675

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Ian Dodd for letting me develop my own ideas and providing guidance when I couldn't see a way forward. Thanks for increasing and restoring my motivation countless times and for helping me to find clarity.

Thanks to past and present members of the Plant Physiology lab group for useful discussions, companionship and open ears and to all colleagues at LEC who shared their knowledge, experiences and stories (scientific or not), especially all the goldfish in the office.

Thanks to the technical team at NIAB CUF, who made my field work possible against all odds.

Thanks to my family for cheering me on through all the years and having my back when I needed it. Special thanks to Julia, who played a major part in conceiving the idea for the project PoTuWa, which now forms a chapter in this thesis and the Meyer family for invaluable help harvesting potatoes.

Thanks to all my friends for reminding me that there's much more to life than a PhD, especially to Sarah and Esti who were by my side through all personal and professional ups and downs throughout the years despite being in different countries for parts of it.

Thanks to the lovely people at Claver Hill for creating, maintaining and being part of this place. I always leave richer than I came.

Thanks to Wallis Allen, who took on the project of turning some of my potato work into art. The graphical abstract of chapter 4 and Figure 4.4.2 are drawing on her work.

I am grateful for AHDB and the EPPN2020 Network for funding my research.

Abstract

Irrigation is an important factor in potato crop management to maximise yield. Summers in the UK will be hotter and drier in the future due to climate change. To maintain crop productivity and use ground water resources sustainably, it is important to determine how potatoes regulate their water use and yield under reduced soil water availability. To better understand root-to-shoot signalling and water fluxes above and below-ground in potato under water-limiting conditions, this thesis presents data from the field and plants at specific phenological stages grown in controlled environments.

Potatoes were grown in the field in a factorial combination of soil compaction and deficit irrigation for an entire season, to understand responses to limited plant water availability. Although physiological parameters (stomatal conductance, photosynthesis rates, leaf tissue ABA) did not differ between treatments throughout the season, plant growth (ground cover, leaf length and number) and yield were reduced under both stresses. Shoot biomass mid-season was correlated with final tuber yield across all treatments.

A possible role of the tuber in regulating plant water relations has been little investigated. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was used as a novel technology to monitor tuber volume growth and water content *in vivo* in well-watered plants and plants from which water was withheld for two days and then re-watered. Plant physiological parameters indicated drought stress prior to re-watering. Tuber volume growth varied diurnally with most growth occurring at night in well-watered plants. However, nocturnal tuber growth ceased immediately after withholding water. Re-watering on Day 3 recovered tuber volume of drought stressed plants to well-watered values.

Strigolactones (SL) have recently been identified as root-to-shoot signal under drought stress, inducing stomatal closure. However, stomatal conductance and leaf water potential of three transgenic lines of potato impaired in SL biosynthesis or signalling or hypersensitive to SL (ccd8, d14 and d53 respectively) were similar to the wildtype as the soil dried. Contrary to previous findings in tomato and *Lotus*, stomatal density was lower in the SL insensitive and SL deficient line and higher in the SL overexpressing line, but these differences did not alter water use.

In summary, this thesis employs a novel technique (MRI) and previously undescribed transgenic lines (d14, d53) in potato to better understand how drying soil affects physiological processes. While irrigation of the potato crop is important in early development and at tuber bulking stage, there may be scope to decrease irrigation at the tuber initiation and maturity stages. Further research is needed to understand the genotype x environment interactions of SL signalling in drying soil.

iii

Contents

	Declaration	i
	Publications arising from this thesis	i
	Acknowledgements	ii
	Abstract	iii
	Contents	iv
	List of commonly used Abbreviations	vii
	Table of Figures	viii
	Table of Tables	ix
1.	General Introduction	1
1.1.	Potato agriculture	1
1.2.	Choice of variety	2
1.3.	The potato growing cycle	3
1.4.	Irrigation in potato agriculture	4
1.5.	Drought stress	5
1.6.	Physiological response to drought stress	8
1.7.	Signalling under drought stress	9
1.8.	Soil compaction in potato agriculture	12
1.9.	Compaction	13
1.10	Physiological responses to soil compaction	13
1.11	. Signalling under compaction	14
1.12	. Thesis structure	16
2.	Agronomic and physiological responses of potato subjected to soil compaction	and/or drying. 18
	Graphical Abstract	18
2.1.	Introduction	18
2.2.	Material and Methods	20
	Field and Crop Management	20

	Measurements	21
	Data analysis and statistics	22
2.3.	Results	23
	Environmental conditions and treatments	23
	Plant growth	24
	Plant physiological parameters	
	Tuber yield	
2.4.	Discussion	
3.	Moderate water stress impairs potato tuber growth, which res	umes upon re-watering36
	Graphical Abstract	Error! Bookmark not defined.
3.1.	Introduction	Error! Bookmark not defined.
3.2.	Material and Methods	Error! Bookmark not defined.
	Plant material	Error! Bookmark not defined.
	Physiological measurements	Error! Bookmark not defined.
	MRI measurements	Error! Bookmark not defined.
	Data analysis and statistics	Error! Bookmark not defined.
3.3.	Results	Error! Bookmark not defined.
	Diurnal rhythm	Error! Bookmark not defined.
3.4.	Discussion	Error! Bookmark not defined.
4.	Do strigolactones mediate stomatal drought stress responses?	
4.1.	Introduction	
4.2.	Material and Methods	40
	Plant Material and growing conditions	
	Plant physiological measurements and hormone assays	
	Statistical analysis	
4.3.	Results	42

4.4.	Discussion45
4.5.	Conclusions
5.	General discussion51
5.1.	Isohydric potatoes:
5.2.	Regular water supply sustains tuber volume growth at bulking stage
5.3.	Early shoot growth determines final yield55
5.4.	Conclusion
6.	References Error! Bookmark not defined.
7.	Supplementary Data to Chapter 276
8.	Supplementary data to Chapter 378
9.	Supplementary data to Chapter 480

List of commonly used Abbreviations

ABA	Abscisic Acid
SL	Strigolactones
WT	Wildtype
Ψ_{root}	Root water potential
ψ_{leaf}	Leaf water potential
$\psi_{\text{pre-dawn}}$	Pre-dawn leaf water potential
ww	Well-watered
d	Drought stressed
gs	Stomatal conductance
SLAC	Slow Anion Channel
DELLA	Protein (aspartic acid–glutamic acid–leucine–leucine–alanine)
PIP	Plasma membrane intrinsic protein
ABF	abscisic acid-responsive transcription factors
DREB	dehydration-responsive element-binding protein

Table of Figures

Figure 1.1: Development of total potato production (green) and planted/ harvested area of potatoes
(purple) in the UK since 1961 error! Bookmark not defined.
Figure 1.2: Growth cycle of potato crops4
Figure 1.3: Variations of soil water concentration, θ , and the corresponding variations of matric
potential, τ , with radial distance, r, from a cylindrical root, radius 1 mm, under conditions of steady
state flow7
Figure 1.4: Possible interaction between gibberellins (GA), abscisic acid (ABA) an ethylene in signalling
of abiotic stress. A) via DELLA proteins, B) via DREB and ABF transcription factors
Figure 2.1: Soil moisture at 25 cm depth over the season 2018
Figure 2.2: Soil resistance of all treatments in the beginning (April), middle (July) and end (September)
of the season24
Figure 2.3: Weekly ground cover of field grown 'Maris Piper'25
Figure 2.4: leaf width in the first half (A) and the second half (B) of the season and weekly leaf number
(C) of field grown 'Maris Piper'27
Figure 2.5: Stomatal conductance (A), photosynthesis rates (B) and leaf tissue ABA levels (C) measured
in field grown Maris Piper under different compaction and irrigation treatments
Figure 2.6: Development of pre-dawn (A) and daytime (B) leaf water potential of potato 'Maris Piper'.
Figure 2.7: Relation between biomass at full ground cover (measured in calendar week 31) and final
yield for field-grown 'Maris Piper'31
Figure 2.8: Total yield (A) and tuber size distribution (B) of field grown 'Maris Piper'
Figure 3.1: Plants positioned in the holding magazine (A). The passing of plants from the rear when
being moved into the magnet in the front can cause leaf damage, hence plants were wrapped in foil
overnight (B) Error! Bookmark not defined.
Figure 3.2: Stomatal conductance (A), photosynthesis rate (B), afternoon leaf water potential (C), leaf
tissue ABA content (D) and mean soil moisture (mean of 3 positions per pot) (E) of well-watered (blue
circles) and drought stressed (orange triangles) plants Error! Bookmark not defined.
Figure 3.3: Soil moisture of well-watered (blue) and drought stressed (orange) plants measured at 5
cm (A, also contains tubers), 20 cm(B) or 35 cm (C) below the soil surface and image of root and tuber
distribution of a sample plant (D) Error! Bookmark not defined.
Figure 3.4: Normalised tuber water content (A) and normalised tuber volume (B) of well-watered (blue
circles) and drought stressed (orange triangles) plants over the time course of three days (white
background) and nights (light grey bars)

Figure 4.1: Strigolactone biosynthesis and signalling pathway with important enzymes
Figure 4.2: Phenotypes of strigolactone mutants in potato 'Desiree' and the wildtype (WT) in each of
the experiments. Arrows indicate axillary outgrowth. (A) ccd8 mutant with axillary outgrowth, WT
without outgrowth, (B) d14 mutant with axillary outgrowth, WT without outgrowth, (C) d53 mutant
and WT with axillary outgrowth40
Figure 4.3: Soil moisture of well-watered (filled circle) and drought stressed (open triangle) potato
plants in three strigolactone (SL) mutants compared to the wildtype42
Figure 4.4: Correlation between stomatal conductance and soil moisture (A), leaf water potential and
soil moisture (B) and stomatal conductance with negative leaf water potential (C) for well-watered
(filled circle) and drought stressed (open triangle) potato plants in three strigolactone (SL) mutants
compared to the wildtype
Figure 4.5: Number of stomata on the abaxial (A) and adaxial (B) side of the leaf. Means ± SE of 5 plants
(n = 5) with 5 leaflets per plants measured at 3 different points
Figure 4.6: Relation between (A) soil moisture and logarithm of root xylem sap ABA concentration and
(B) logarithm of root xylem sap ABA concentration and stomatal conductance in well-watered (closed
circle) and drought stressed (open triangle) plants of the wildtype (blue) and the ccd8 silenced line
(green)45
Figure 4.8: Hypothetical interactions between SL and ABA in regulating stomatal closure in drying soil
in WT (A), SL deficient or insensitive plants (B) and SL hypersensitive plants (C)
Figure 4.9: Previously proven interactions between strigolactone (SL) and abscisic acid (ABA)
biosynthesis and signalling pathways50
Figure 5.1: Growth cycle of potato crops with a possible irrigation scheme for water saving crop
management

Table of Tables

plants						Error! B	ookm	nark not	defined.
Table 3.1: Diurnal	differences in	relative tube	r water	content	of well	watered	and	drought	stressed

1. General Introduction

1.1. Potato agriculture

Potatoes are the 4th most important crop in the world (Obidiegwu et al., 2015). The yearly supply of potatoes worldwide has grown from 108 million tonnes in 1961 to 241 million tonnes in 2012 (Vinet & Zhedanov, 2011). Nevertheless, it is mainly produced for local markets as only 6 % of production enters the global market (FAO, 2009). The exported quantity of potatoes is even smaller in the United Kingdom (UK), where only 5 % of the produced yield is exported (Vinet & Zhedanov, 2011) and more potatoes are imported than exported (AHDB Potatoes, 2021) . This means that most of the potato yield is used within the country, and that local production must sustain demand.

In the UK, there are five to six million tonnes of potatoes produced every year (DEFRA, 2017). This quantity remains relatively stable even though production area halved from 1960 to 2016 (AHDB, 2017) (Figure 1.1.1). Thus, the productivity per hectare is increasing. However, the yields that farmers achieve fall short of yield potential achieved in breeders' trials under optimal conditions, the so-called yield gap. For example, the reported yield gap for potatoes grown for the processing industry in the Netherlands is ca. 30 % (Silva et al., 2017). For the UK, yield potentials of 105 - 115 t/ha have been estimated (Allen & Scott, 1980), while the actual agricultural yield ranges between 40 - 50 t/ha in the last ten years (DEFRA, 2012, 2017). That means current potato yield in the UK could double under optimal conditions.



Figure 1.1.1: Development of total potato production (green) and planted/ harvested area of potatoes (purple) in the UK since 1961. Data: FAOSTAT, 2019

'Maris Piper' is the UK's most popular variety over the last ten years, with more than twice the area planted with Maris Piper than with the respective second ranked variety (AHDB Potatoes, 2021). Maris Piper has good cooking as well as frying properties and is well established with consumers in direct marketing and retail. Although maximum yields of *c*. 85 t/ha were reported for this cultivar almost 40 years ago (Allen & Scott, 1980), currently it averages 50 t/ha in the UK (Stalham, 2018, personal communication). Changes in yield can be closely related to different soil types or climates, but this maximum yield was achieved at two different places in two different years (Allen & Scott, 1980). Thus, it seems possible that improving the management of Maris Piper could increase yield by about 25 %. Water availability has a big impact on potato yield, because the tubers comprise ca. 83 % water (Saeed et al., 2008). Since retailers demand tubers with unblemished skins, and soil drying enhances development of the bacterial disease potato scab (*Streptomyces scabies*) causing corky lesions on the tubers, many growers regularly irrigate this crop and may sometimes over-irrigate it. This may cause misshapen tubers and promotes development of a fungal disease powdery scab (*Spongospora subterranea*) resulting in skin blemishes.

While over-irrigation restricts leaf gas exchange in solanaceous crops (Fiebig & Dodd, 2016), deficit irrigation (applying less water than crop evapotranspiration) also limits transpiration and photosynthesis (Li et al., 2021). Furthermore, low water availability decreases canopy size and light interception and therefore decreases the amount of carbohydrates available for tuber growth (Jefferies and Mackerron, 1987; Vos and Haverkort, 2007). Soil compaction reduces, among other factors, root length density and canopy expansion (Stalham *et al.*, 2007), which leads to reduced access to water with the above-mentioned consequences. Thus, this thesis focuses on the effect of reduced water availability caused by soil compaction and/or deficit irrigation, to help to develop recommendations for potato crop management in a changing climate.

1.2. Choice of variety

Different potato varieties are adapted to different conditions and can cope better or worse with a certain stress (Wishart et al., 2014; Obidiegwu et al., 2015). Thus, choosing the right variety for the typical climate and the distinct soil properties on the field can make a large difference to yield. In breeding terminology, drought tolerant varieties maintain yield under drought conditions (Obidiegwu et al., 2015). However, a physiological definition of drought tolerance differs (see section 1.6). A variety that copes better with drought stress could have a higher water use efficiency and therefore require less irrigation in the summer months to sustain yield or produce higher yields with the same

amount of water. For breeders to rapidly select tolerant varieties, it is crucial to have markers that indicate stress tolerance early in plant development. The capacity of a variety to produce long distance signals (see section 1.7) for a quick stress response could be such a marker. It is therefore important to understand the mechanisms by which plants sense drying soil and their long distance signalling responses to compaction and drought stress (Jin et al., 2013), to breed varieties suitable for likely field conditions.

This thesis is using 'Maris Piper' and 'Desiree', two well established potato varieties in the UK that are suitable for different uses from boiling to frying (AHDB, 2021). A better understanding of mechanisms in established varieties helps to identify in which areas improvements could be made to increase drought tolerance. This translates directly into breeding targets for new varieties.

1.3. The potato growing cycle

The growth of potato crops can be described in different stages (Figure 1.3.1). After planting seed tubers, Maris Piper takes approximately 35 days until emergence of the first shoots from the soil, depending on temperature (Stalham, 2018, personal communication). In the vegetative growth stage, shoot growth and canopy density increase (Figure 1.3.1, shoot growth). Approximately 4 weeks after emergence tubers and flowers are initiated and the plant subsequently goes into the tuber bulking stage and flowering (Figure 1.3.1), tuber initiation and bulking). The plant reaches maturity three to four months after emergence and senesces thereafter (Figure 1.3.1, shoot growth, tuber growth). After maturing the tubers are ready to be harvested. Abiotic stresses such as limited water availability can have different effects on yield depending on the developmental stage at which they occur (Ierna and Mauromicale, 2012; Pavlista, 2015) . Drought stress can result in darker fry colour of the tuber (Shock *et al.*, 1998; Pavlista, 2015), reduced starch content (Köhl *et al.*, 2021), increased incidents of common scab (*Streptomyces scabies*) (Pavlista, 2015)and a larger proportion of tubers in smaller tuber sizes (Aliche *et al.*, 2019). Thus, irrigation scheduling is an important component of potato crop management.

3



Figure 1.3.1: Growth cycle of potato crops. Maris Piper is usually planted in the UK in the middle of April and emerges after an average of 35 days. All other stages are reached accordingly.

Adapted from: Castlecor Potatoes

1.4. Irrigation in potato agriculture

In rainfed potato agriculture in the UK, drought stress is a major yield limiting factor (Haro-Monteagudo et al., 2017). The first half of the potato growing season (April to July, crop emergence to full ground cover) coincides with the driest period in the United Kingdom with less than 80 mm total rainfall per month typically occurring over eleven to twelve days (Met Office UK, 2021). Since low soil water availability can limit yield of potato crops (Vos & Haverkort, 2007) and potatoes are most susceptible to common scab (*Streptomyces scabies*) around tuber initiation and at low soil moistures (Braun et al., 2017), growers usually irrigate potato fields throughout the season. Water applications to potato crops accounted for over 50 % of the annual volume of irrigation water used in English agriculture over the last 30 years (Weatherhead, 2007). Therefore, optimizing water use in potato crops, while maintaining or increasing the yield is an important target to address sustainable water use as well as ensuring food security. Thus, it is necessary to better understand the physiological mechanisms regulating plant stress responses to better predict crop behaviour in distinct environmental conditions.

Reducing irrigation is not always detrimental to potato yield quality and quantity. After tuber initiation, up to 35 % less water can be applied without decreasing yield (Ahmadi et al., 2010b; Jensen et al., 2010) and in a UK study with deficit irrigation in two different potato cultivars, only 10 % of the tubers were affected by common scab (Puértolas et al., 2014). In addition, crop rotation choices, low

soil pH and treatment of the soil with rapeseed meal or *Trichoderma viride* can help reduce infection with common scab (Charkowski et al., 2020; Hilton et al., 2006). That suggests there may be other measures to counteract scab and hence water saving irrigation techniques may be viable in UK potato crops without increasing the risk of yield losses due to scab. As mentioned above, deficit irrigation can have different effects on potato yield and quality depending on the developmental stage at which the crop is subjected to suboptimal water availability (Ierna and Mauromicale, 2012; Pavlista, 2015). In order to understand the impact of drought stress on the potato plant at different developmental stages, this thesis explores shoot water relations at the vegetative growth stage (Chapter 4) and tuber water relations at tuber bulking stage (Chapter 3).

1.5. Drought stress

Drought stress occurs when the plant is not able to extract enough water from the soil to support organ growth and functionality (e.g. photosynthesis, transpiration). The soil-plant-atmosphere continuum describes water movement from the soil through the plant into the surrounding air, driven by differences in water potential (Taiz & Zeiger, 2010). The air around the plant is drier than the air inside the leaf, so water diffuses through the stomatal pores into the air. As a consequence, the leaf water potential becomes more negative. Water is 'pulled' towards the lowest (i.e. most negative) water potential, and thus transported from the roots to the shoots against gravitational forces. Water movement from the roots to the shoot lowers root water potential, allowing water uptake from the surrounding soil. Thus, there is a continuous flow of water from the soil through the plant into the air.

The water potential (Ψ_w) of each cell and consequently every plant organ is the sum of the osmotic potential (Ψ_s), the turgor pressure (Ψ_p) and gravitiy (Ψ_g): $\Psi_w = \Psi_s + \Psi_p + \Psi_g$ (Taiz & Zeiger, 2010). Ψ_w and its components can be measured in different ways. Ψ_w and its components can be measured in different ways. A Scholander type pressure chamber increases the air pressure around a plant organ until external pressure is high enough to expel water from the cells, which appears as droplets on the cut surface. The (positive) air pressure needed to reach this point is equivalent to the (negative) water potential of the sum of cells in the organ (Taiz & Zeiger, 2010). Water evaporation cools the surface of plant tissues. This is used in a psychrometer, where vapour pressure in a cuvette is measured using a thermocouple. Lower water potential of the sampled tissue lowers the measured vapour pressure. This measurement can be conducted directly on the plant (*in vivo*) or on excised tissue to measure overall water potential. Measuring cellular sap provides the osmotic potential of the tissue (Scholander *et al.*, 1965). The osmotic potential of the sap can also be measured with different methods either using the principle that the osmolyte content of a solution decreases the freezing temperature (cryoscopic osmometer) and decreases the refraction of a solution (refractometer) compared to water(Taiz & Zeiger, 2010). Cell turgor can be estimated by the sum of measured tissue water potential and osmotic potential. However, a pressure probe can directly measure cellular turgor by inserting a microcapillary into a cell, which leads to sap entering the capillary. The pressure needed to push the sap back into the cell is measured and equivalent to the turgor pressure of the cell (Hüsken *et al.*, 1978). Gravity is very similar in neighbouring cells but needs to be considered when water is transported between organs in the plant, especially in root to shoot transport of water against the gravitational force (-0.1 MPa m⁻¹). The gravitational component is usually ignored except in tall trees and lianas, and is of limited significance to potato crops.

Potato tubers are an additional organ to be considered when investigating plant water relations. To date, little is known about water fluxes to and from the tuber in response to changing water potentials in the soil, root or shoot. Directing the water flux towards the tuber during bulking phase could be an important breeding target in order to maximise tuber growth. However, to understand potato drought stress responses and effects on tuber growth, we have to understand the ability of the plant to acquire water from the soil and how it signals restrictions in water supply to limit transpirational water loss.

Leaf water deficit occurs when plant water requirements (determined largely by evaporative demand) exceed the capacity of the roots to extract water from the soil. Transpiration rate in tomato declined as the soil dried even when leaf water potential was maintained (Abdalla et al., 2021), indicating the stomata react to the water available to the leaf rather than the turgor pressure. Furthermore, intraplant conductivity for water was not altered by drying soil (Abdalla et al., 2021). Thus, the capacity of the plant to supply water to the leaf depends firstly on the soil hydraulic conductivity and secondly on the water uptake into the root and root hydraulic conductivity (Cowan, 1965; Draye et al., 2010).

Soil hydraulic conductivity depends on capillary forces to distribute water upwards or horizontally. Ultramicropores (< 5 μ m diameter) retain water very firmly (inaccessible to plants), Micro- and Mesopores (5 – 800 μ m diameter) can hold and release water whereas macropores (> 800 μ m diameter) are air-filled at field capacity and water drains by gravity (Weil & Brady, 2016). Soil type and soil management techniques determine pore size distribution and thus soil hydraulic conductivity. In addition, the soil hydraulic conductivity decreases as the soil dries out (Kramer & Boyer, 1995) which can occur around the root during the day due to plant transpiration (Figure 1.5.1; Cowan, 1965; Kramer and Boyer, 1995). In well-watered soils, the soil water content (and therefore hydraulic conductivity) around the roots is restored during the night (Draye et al., 2010).



Figure 1.5.1: Variations of soil water concentration, θ , and the corresponding variations of matric potential, τ , with radial distance, r, from a cylindrical root, radius 1 mm, under conditions of steady state flow. The entry velocity of water at the root surface is 2.5 mm day⁻¹. Curve numbers refer to the following arbitrary levels of water concentration at a distance of 8 mm from the root: (1) 0.20; (2) 0.185; (3) 0.17; (4) 0.155 cm³/ cm³ soil.

Taken from: Cowan, 1965

The root hydraulic conductivity depends on water entering the roots (radial conductivity) and its transport from the point of entrance towards the xylem vessels for long distance transport to the shoots (axial conductivity). Water enters the root mainly at the root tip, and moves via different pathways (apoplast, symplast, transmembrane) through the cortex (Taiz & Zeiger, 2010; Chen, 2016). To enter the xylem vessels, water has to cross the Casparian strip, which is a ring of suberin around the endodermis cells that prevents water from passing through the apoplast (Taiz & Zeiger, 2010). Upon reaching the endodermis, water has to enter the cell to eventually contribute to shoot water supply. The transmembrane transport of water is facilitated by aquaporins. These are proteins in the cell membrane of animal and plant cells that transport water molecules into and out of cells and therefore enhance the water permeability of the membrane (Kaldenhoff et al., 1998). The aquaporins PIP1 and PIP2 play an important role in the hydraulic conductivity of plants (Kaldenhoff et al., 1998; Siefritz et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2017; Mahdieh et al., 2008) and gene expression of PIP1;1 and PIP2;1 in roots is downregulated in tobacco under drought stress (Mahdieh et al., 2008), suggesting root hydraulic conductivity is reduced under drought stress, to restrict water losses to the drying soil. In contrast, whole plant expression profiles in potato showed that some PIP genes are downregulated (PIP1;1, PIP1;5, PIP2;7, PIP2;8) and some were upregulated (PIP1;4, PIP2;1, PIP2;5, PIP2;6) in response

to drought stress and ABA treatment (Venkatesh et al., 2013), showing that the role of aquaporins in drought stress response is complex. However, potatoes overexpressing PIP1 were more drought tolerant, which manifested in higher photosynthesis rates, higher water use efficiency, higher biomass production and higher yield under drought in PIP1 overexpressing lines compared to the wildtype at a constant soil moisture of 55-60 % field capacity (Wang et al., 2017). Thus, a higher number of aquaporins may be beneficial under short term drought conditions to better access water remaining in the soil.

The abundance of PIPs is regulated on the transcriptional level by environmental factors like drought stress and hormonal signals like ABA, while the activity of the channel is regulated by changes in cytosol pH and abundance of reactive oxygen species (Zargar et al., 2017). Drought stress elicits all of these signals, making aquaporins a key player in regulating plant water status. In summary, drying soil transports water less effectively to the roots and the uptake of water is hindered by the reduced number of aquaporins inserted into the cell walls or reduced activity of the aquaporins already present. These restrictions limit water transport into the leaf, leading to leaf water deficit. Excessive water loss from the leaves poses the risk of drying out. However, stomatal closure to prevent water loss from the leaves restricts gas exchange and therefore photosynthesis rates. Plants have different solutions to this, depending on species and severity of the stress.

1.6. Physiological response to drought stress

Plants use three different strategies to cope with drought stress: escape from drought, drought tolerance and drought avoidance. Drought escaping plants have only a short life cycle, quickly producing seeds before soil water availability becomes limiting. Drought tolerant plants sustain physiological activities such photosynthesis even though leaf water status declines (e.g. stomata are kept open despite decreasing leaf water potential). Drought avoiding plants maintain leaf water status, even at the expense of photosynthesis (e.g. stomata are closed despite reduced gas exchange) (Ludlow, 1989; Anithakumari, 2011; Obidiegwu et al., 2015). The same plant can adopt traits of the two latter strategies according to the intensity of soil drying (Ludlow, 1989).

Potato typically avoids drought by increasing root development to explore soil layers and expand in regions where sufficient water is available. Most root growth occurs in the upper 40 cm of the soil if plants are well watered, whereas under drought stress a greater proportion of roots can be found in deeper soil layers (60 – 100 cm, Stalham and Allen, 2004). This change in root architecture allows the plants to adapt to a certain extent to dry soil conditions. Under deficit irrigation the upper soil layers

8

gradually dry out between irrigation events, so water uptake from lower soil layers is even more important for the plant. Thus, potatoes grown in drying soil extract water from deeper soil regions than seen under well-watered conditions (Stalham & Allen, 2004).

In many agricultural crops, drying soil restricts shoot growth earlier than root growth (Kramer & Boyer, 1995). Thus, both root architecture and root-shoot ratio change to provide sufficient supply of water to the aerial plant parts. In this way the plant avoids drought stress under limited water supply. Moreover, stomatal closure can occur due to the physical consequence of reduced turgor in the whole leaf and therefore in guard cells (Davies et al., 2002). This physical reaction can be seen under severe water deficit conditions. However, soil drying can decrease stomatal aperture before leaf water potential is affected (Liu et al., 2005; Puértolas et al., 2014), indicating that chemical signals are sent from root to shoot to reduce water loss before hydraulic signals become important. For example, the concentration of abscisic acid (ABA) in the xylem sap increases in response to drought stress (Davies et al., 2002; Puértolas et al., 2014) and causes partial stomatal closure (Davies et al., 2002; de Ollas & Dodd, 2016). Thus, there is evidence for hormonal signalling under drought stress. However, it is not entirely understood how different hormones may interact.

1.7. Signalling under drought stress

A number of plant hormones are involved in long distance (root-to-shoot) signalling under drought stress, including ABA, strigolactones (SL) and others. ABA can be synthesized in both root and shoot according to their water status (Davies et al., 2002), which makes it a relevant candidate in drought stress signalling (Liu et al., 2005). Historically it was presumed that ABA was produced in the roots under drought stress (Davies et al., 2002) and subsequently transported to the leaves, where it induces stomatal closure (Liu et al., 2005). Interestingly, root xylem-ABA content continues to accumulate for days after maximum stomatal closure is achieved (Liu et al., 2005). This could mean that basipetal phloem transport of ABA to the roots recirculates ABA in the xylem (Slovik et al., 1995) independently of stomatal closure. Alternatively, ABA may continually be produced in drought-stressed roots at low levels, making it a possible signal to regulate other responses to drought stress like shoot growth inhibition (Zhang & Davies, 1989). Exogenous ABA partially restored vegetative growth of ABA-deficient tomato mutants even when the shoot water status did not change (Sharp, 2002; Sharp et al., 2000). However, ABA deficient maize mutants and wildtype maize treated with Fluridone (carotenoid biosynthesis inhibitor) growing at low water potentials (-0.3 MPa in vermiculite) had a higher shoot growth rate than the untreated wildtype at the same soil water potential (Saab et al., 1990), indicating

that ABA maintains shoot growth under well-watered conditions, but inhibits shoot growth under drought stress.

ABA is a drought stress signal that among others induces transcription factors such as ABF/ AREB, MYC, MYB and bZIP, which regulate drought stress responses in the plant (Lee et al., 2010; Verma et al., 2016; Hussain et al., 2021). These transcription factors upregulate the expression of genes that lead to increased stress tolerance or increased ABA sensitivity (Verma et al., 2016). DREB also play an important role in drought stress responses, but different authors disagree whether they are induced by ABA (Verma et al., 2016) or independent of ABA (Agarwal et al., 2006). DREB belong to the ERFfamily of transcription factors, which are regulated by ethylene and ethylene and ABA interact via the DELLA proteins (Verma et al., 2016). Thus, ABA and ethylene crosstalk induces specific drought stress responses. Mild drought treatment (water loss > 80 ml was compensated by re-watering) increased both ABA and ethylene levels in wheat (Valluru et al., 2016). Elsewhere deficit irrigation based on soil water loss is described in more detail and resulted in 0.1 MPa difference in leaf water potential between well-watered and deficit irrigated plants (Puértolas et al., 2014). However, in maize seedlings increased ABA levels under drought stress prevented excessive ethylene production thereby maintaining root growth (Spollen et al., 2000). ABA-mediated suppression of ethylene synthesis under water deficit occurred in roots and shoots thereby maintaining root growth and transiently inhibiting shoot growth (Sharp, 2002). Thus, changes in root and shoot growth under drought stress could be mediated by the ratio between ABA and ethylene, which may vary between species.

Recent research questions this paradigm and suggests that ABA produced in the shoot is more important for shoot physiological responses than ABA produced in the roots (McAdam et al., 2016a; Thompson et al., 2007). Following this new model, a hydraulic signal from roots to the shoot (which cannot be detected with concurrent measurements of leaf water potential), induces ABA production in the shoot and subsequent stomatal closure (McAdam et al., 2016a; Merilo et al., 2018). This hydraulic signal is most likely increased xylem tension, which reduces water flow from the roots to the leaves and a consequent decrease in leaf water potential, similar to more severe drought stress conditions. However, statistical changes in leaf water potential (Ψ_{leaf}) between two populations of plants of < -0.1 MPa are unlikely to be detected with the pressure chamber used in this study (or other methods) since variation in Ψ_{leaf} within and between individual plants is likely of a similar magnitude.Redistribution of foliar ABA then results in accumulation in the roots (McAdam et al., 2016a). In isohydric plants that maintain leaf water potential as the soil dries, this hypothesis cannot be proven or contradicted until more sensitive instruments to measure leaf water potential are available. However, xylem-ABA levels alone cannot explain stomatal closure in response to drying soil in potato (Liu et al., 2005; Ahmadi et al., 2010a). Other changes in xylem sap composition increase the sensitivity of the guard cells to ABA, or re-distribute ABA to the guard cells (Davies et al., 2002; de Ollas et al., 2018). Elevated xylem pH decreases the uptake of ABA by leaf mesophyll cells, which increases the amounts reaching the guard cells and thus promoting stomatal closure (Wilkinson & Davies, 1997). This mechanism increases ABA's effectiveness in the leaf, but this can only explain partly the lower stomatal sensitivity to synthetic ABA found in earlier studies (Munns & King, 1988). Furthermore, it is possible that a hormonal signal is sent from the root to the shoot under drought stress to trigger shoot ABA production. This signal could either be root-borne ABA that causes foliar ABA accumulation (Liu et al., 2005) or another hormone that is produced in the roots under drought stress, like strigolactones (SL).

Strigolactones (SL) are plant hormones that are derived from the same precursor as ABA, 9-cis-β-carotene (Lv et al., 2018) and can be produced in the root and the shoot (Ruyter-Spira et al., 2013). SL deficient plants show increased stomatal conductance (Visentin et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2015) and wider stomatal aperture (Lv et al., 2018) under well-watered conditions compared to the wildtype. However, studies using exogenous SL disagree, since exogenous SL decreased stomatal aperture in *Arabidopsis* (Lv et al., 2018), but did not alter whole plant transpiration (Kalliola et al., 2020). Interestingly, exogenous SL trigger the SLAC1 channel (Lv et al., 2018), a K+ ion pump in the guard cell membrane that is also triggered by ABA (Grabov et al., 1997). Hence, it is possible that ABA and SL interact in stomatal closure signalling or are interdependent through feedback loops. In dry soil SL deficient plants of tomato and *Lotus* show stomatal closure similar to the wildtype (Liu et al., 2015; Visentin et al., 2016), indicating that SL are not necessary for stomatal closure under severe drought stress. Thus, a lack of root SL production in drying soil could result in increased biosynthesis of another long-distance signal eliciting stomatal closure, such as ABA.

Mild drought treatment (-0.08 MPa soil water potential) increased both ABA and ethylene production in wheat shoots (Valluru et al., 2016). However, roots of ABA deficient maize seedlings showed excessive production of ethylene (Spollen et al., 2000), indicating that ABA reduces ethylene production and thereby enables root growth under drought stress. In addition, shoot growth in ABAdeficient maize seedlings under water deficit (-0.3 MPa soil water potential) was similarly increased by exogenous ABA and the ethylene blocker silver thiosulphate (Sharp, 2002). That means that the previously stated changes in root and shoot growth under drought stress could be mediated by the ratio between ABA and ethylene. These ratios likely differ for roots and shoots in drying soil. The majority of the hormonal signals described above were found in different agricultural crops such as wheat, maize or tomato. The harvested products from all these plants are the fruits or seeds produced from the pollinated flower above-ground. In contrast, potatoes have large storage organs below-ground and were bred to relocate considerable resources into these. This means that signalling mechanisms between the above-ground and the below-ground plant parts could differ from the other named crops. This thesis aims to understand more about the long-distance signalling and water fluxes in potatoes under water-limiting conditions.

1.8. Soil compaction in potato agriculture

Potatoes are usually planted in the United Kingdom between the end of March and the beginning of May (Stalham et al., 2007). Prior to planting, it is common practice to till and de-stone the field to a depth of 25 cm (AHDB Potatoes, 2013; Stalham et al., 2007). The soil is usually wet and close to field capacity when these soil management measures are undertaken (Stalham and Allison, 2019, personal communication). In these conditions, the soil is close to its plastic limit. That means traffic with heavy machinery will compress the soil particles, leading to compacted soil. Soil compaction decreases soil pore space, thus increasing the bulk density of the soil. This entails changes in physical properties as well as changes in chemical properties (Nawaz et al., 2013). These changes decrease root length and density (Stalham et al., 2007) and therefore the ability of the plant to extract water and nutrients from the soil. The susceptibility of a certain field to compaction depends not only on the soil type, but also on the current water content and the existing degree of compaction (Håkansson, 2005). This can also be seen in practice as shallow compaction in potato fields was frequently observed in wet springs (Stalham et al., 2007). Since the UK averages 12.3 rainfall days per month between March and May and the temperatures are not high enough to significantly dry the soil via evaporation (Met Office UK, 2021), potato fields are usually wet when they are prepared for potato sowing. Thus, compaction due to vehicle traffic on these fields is very likely and in a survey of over 600 fields over a period of 12 years, 65 % of commercial fields were severely compacted (≥ 3 MPa penetration resistance, Stalham et al., 2007). Soil compaction decreased potato yield in Maris Piper by 40 % and in the same study deficit irrigation did not decrease yield further (Stalham et al., 2007). Hence, there seems to be an interaction between irrigation management and soil strength. Plant water availability is likely a key factor in this interaction. An experiment with a factorial combination of deficit irrigation and soil compaction is needed (Chapter 2) to disentangle the effects of the single stresses on plant physiology and yield.

1.9. Compaction

Soil compaction is a form of soil degradation (Nawaz et al., 2013) that changes pore size distribution, since the compaction process removes larger pores (> 30μ m) more than fine pore structures (Håkansson, 2005; Nawaz et al., 2013). The change in porosity lowers the gas permeability of the soil as well as the drainage capability (Wolkowski & Lowery, 2008) and can decrease soil hydraulic conductivity (Johansen et al., 2015) making water less accessible for the roots. These structural changes in the soil increase the likelihood of waterlogging under high irrigation amounts and excessive rainfalls and/or earlier drought stress under low irrigation amounts compared to uncompacted soil (Bengough et al., 2011). Additionally, compacted soil often restricts root growth due to higher soil resistance, which further reduces access to water and nutrient resources (Stalham et al., 2007). Soil compaction can also limit plant availability of important nutrients, such as nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium in the soil, because diffusion and mass flow are limited through smaller pore sizes and the resulting lower soil experience physical stresses such as mechanical impedance and chemical stresses such as low oxygen and nutrient availability. The physiological responses to these stresses may have an additive effect on crop yields.

1.10. Physiological responses to soil compaction

The higher bulk density and higher penetrometer resistance in compacted soil inhibits root growth (Nawaz et al., 2013), leading to shorter and thicker roots in many plant species (Materechera et al., 1991; Bengough et al., 2011; Nawaz et al., 2013; Jin et al., 2015; Colombi & Walter, 2016). Soils with a penetrometer resistance exceeding 1.5 - 2 MPa considerably restrict root growth of potato and other crops (Bengough et al., 2011; Stalham et al., 2007). A smaller root system limits water and nutrient capture, which can stunt plant growth. Additionally, limited soil oxygen availability can restrict plant growth (Ryan et al., 2016), trigger formation of aerenchyma, increase the thickness of the root cortex in nodal roots and decrease the root cortex thickness in tap roots (Colombi & Walter, 2016). Aerenchyma can provide oxygen to the root tip under anaerobic soil conditions, which can be present in compacted soils, and can cause thickening of the roots due to a thicker root cortex zone (Colombi & Walter, 2016).

Soil compaction usually decreases shoot growth and leaf area (Andrade et al., 1993; Wolkowski & Lowery, 2008; Mulholland et al., 1996; Hussain et al., 1999, 2000; Coelho Filho et al., 2013), often to a greater extent than root growth (Andrade et al., 1993). In maize and barley, soil compaction decreases stomatal conductance while leaf water potential is maintained (Tardieu et al., 1992; Mulholland et al., 1996). In young maize plants, leaf water potential is initially lower in compacted soil and xylem ABA levels are increased (Hartung et al., 1994), indicating a response to lower water availability. This reaction is also reported as response to drought stress (Section 2.2, above) with a similar signalling mechanism. These similarities indicate that plants grown in compacted soil also suffer from water deficit. However, there are also other long-distance signals under soil compaction that regulate plant responses.

1.11. Signalling under compaction

Stomatal closure under soil compaction is mediated via increased levels of ABA in the xylem sap of tomato (Hussain et al., 2000), However, wheat grown in compacted soil maintained leaf water potential without changes in xylem ABA content (Whalley et al., 2006). Thus, increased ABA levels may represent a signal of drought stress, because of limited water access to the roots, rather than a signal of increased soil strength *per se*. This distinction is somewhat academic since the stresses cannot be separated in the field. Under mild compaction (1.4 g cm⁻³) increased ABA export from the roots maintained barley leaf area in WT plants, whereas this signal was insufficient to sustain leaf growth rates under severe compaction (1.7 g cm⁻³, Mulholland *et al.*, 1996). In tomato, leaf expansion rates of the ABA deficient mutant *flacca* are lower than in the wild type under control conditions, but leaf expansion rate in both genotypes is similarly low under severe compaction (1.5 g cm⁻³) (Mulholland et al., 1999), suggesting that ABA is needed to maintain leaf expansion under mild compaction, but not sufficient under severe compaction as other mechanisms limit growth. Furthermore, both findings suggest that other signals (than ABA) mediate leaf expansion under severe compaction stress, similar to the patterns of signalling in response to drought stress seen above.

Soil compaction increased leaf ethylene evolution up to 5-fold and decreased leaf area of wildtype tomato plants, with an attenuated response when plants were grown in split pots with half the roots in compact soil and the remainder in uncompacted soil. Transgenic plants with a reduced capacity for stress-induced ethylene synthesis (ACO1_{AS}) showed the same growth response under full compaction, whereas they maintained leaf expansion in the split pots (Hussain et al., 2000, 1999). Thus, ethylene signalling seems important in regulating growth when some roots are exposed to soil compaction, but

is overridden by other signals under severe compaction. Additionally, ethylene decreased root elongation but increased root radial growth under both water stress (Sharp, 2002) and under soil compaction (Nawaz et al., 2013). Furthermore, increased ethylene production of ABA-deficient tomato mutants can decrease leaf expansion, which can be restored by exogenous ABA (Sharp et al., 2000). Applying ABA to the compacted compartment of a split pot system decreased ethylene production and maintained shoot growth in both wild type and ABA deficient tomatoes, while ACO1_{AS} plants were not affected by this treatment (Hussain et al., 2000). These findings suggest that ethylene and ABA interact under compaction stress to regulate shoot growth as with drought stressed plants. This means that root-sourced ABA could restrict root ethylene production or the sensitivity of tissues to ethylene in plants growing in compact soil.

Gibberellins (GA) generally promote root and shoot growth (Taiz & Zeiger, 2010). Decreased GA sensitivity and soil compaction (0.75 MPa) stunted root and shoot growth to a similar extent in wheat (Coelho Filho et al., 2013). Furthermore, supplying exogenous GA to plants grown in compacted soil promoted leaf elongation to a greater extent than GA supply to plants grown under normal conditions (Coelho Filho et al., 2013), suggesting that gibberellins are downregulated in plants under compaction. Similarly, soil compaction decreased foliar gibberellin levels (Donaldson, 2019). Thus, reduced GA synthesis under soil compaction could inhibit root and shoot growth.

The above-mentioned hormones likely interact to mediate plant responses to soil compaction. Gibberellin action under abiotic stress is often mediated by DELLA proteins, which act as growth repressors (Colebrook et al., 2014). Under salt stress and cold stress, ABA and ethylene regulate plant growth also through the function of DELLA proteins (Achard et al., 2006; Verma et al., 2016). Thus, these hormones may also interact via DELLA proteins under drought or compaction stress (Figure 1.11.1). In addition, the DREB1/CBF transcription factor family regulates the gibberellin metabolism under cold stress (Achard et al., 2006) and there are contradictory findings as to whether ABA induces these transcription factors under cold stress (Knight et al., 2004). More recent findings show that the transcription factors of the ABF family regulate ABA- and stress responses in the plant and that different members of the ABF family interact with members of the DREB family (Lee et al., 2010; Verma et al., 2016). Since transcription factors of the DREB family regulate gibberellin biosynthesis as well as ethylene signalling (Achard et al., 2006; Verma et al., 2016), crosstalk between these three hormones may involve several pathways. Ethylene and ABA also crosstalk in stress responses via the DELLA proteins (Verma *et al.*, 2016), so these proteins seem to have a crucial role in managing stress responses.

15

Taken together, drought stress and soil compaction induce similar physiological responses and longdistance signalling, probably since soil compaction also limits plant water access by decreasing root length. Hence, it is difficult to separate drought stress and soil compaction responses, but further understanding of both stresses, individually and in combination, is needed to suggest more precise crop management strategies and to identify breeding markers.



Figure 1.11.1: Possible interaction between gibberellins (GA), abscisic acid (ABA) an ethylene in signalling of abiotic stress. A) via DELLA proteins, B) via DREB and ABF transcription factors

1.12. Thesis structure

This thesis is aimed to understand the effect of limited water availability caused by drought stress and soil compaction on potato physiology and signalling through different stages of plant development. This was first investigated in a field experiment with the variety Maris Piper grown and monitored over a whole season in a factorial combination of drought stress and soil compaction (Chapter 2). In this experiment soil moisture was continuously monitored, shoot growth and physiological parameters were assessed weekly and correlations with yield were established to test the hypothesis that soil compaction and drought stress limit shoot growth, but only deficit irrigation induces foliar ABA accumulation and therefore restricts plant gas exchange and photosynthesis rates. The experiment was repeated on an adjacent field in the following year. However, penetrometer readings did not demonstrate significant soil compaction. Thus, the results from that year are not presented in the paper and this thesis. Specific mechanisms underlying the field responses found in the presented field experiment are further explored in the subsequent chapters.

In the field experiment, drought stressed plants had a large number of small tubers. To understand how tuber growth is affected by soil water availability and shoot physiological responses, an *in-vivo*

experiment was conducted using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) to measure tuber volume and water content in the soil during tuber bulking stage (Chapter 3). These measurements were accompanied by soil moisture and shoot physiological measurements similar to those conducted in the field experiment, to relate tuber growth and water content to the previously discussed physiological effects. It is hypothesized that tubers take up water during the night and lose water throughout the day. This is expected to increase and decrease tuber growth rate respectively. Greater restriction of overnight growth rate in drought stressed plants than in well-watered plants could explain the smaller tubers under drought stress in the field.

Under long-term deficit irrigation in the field, potato plants restrict above-ground growth rather than gas exchange. However, in controlled environment experiments that withhold water, the stomata close before leaf water potential decreases. Both reactions maintain leaf water potential at different costs. To understand possible interactions or common causes between these responses, hormonal root-to-shoot signalling under drought stress was further examined (Chapter 4). The role of ABA in drought stress responses is well studied, but a newer group of hormones, strigolactones (SL), were reported to be long-distance signals under drought stress and to interact with ABA (Visentin et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2015; Ruyter-Spira et al., 2013). ABA levels did not differ between treatments in the field (Chapter 2) and changes in stomatal conductance could not entirely be explained by changes in leaf water potential in controlled environments (Huntenburg, preliminary data, Liu et al., 2005), which suggests that an additional signal or several signals are involved in stomatal closure in drying soil. The role of SL in potato drought stress responses was investigated using transgenic lines deficient in SL biosynthesis and with increased and decreased sensitivity to SL during the primarily vegetative growth stage (Chapter 4). Based on previous literature, transgenics deficient in SL biosynthesis or insensitive to SL were expected to have a higher stomatal conductance than the wildtype under well-watered conditions, whereas the genotype hypersensitive to SL is expected to have a lower stomatal conductance than the wildtype. In drying soil, it is expected that all genotypes show similar levels of stomatal closure with higher ABA levels in the genotypes impaired in SL biosynthesis or signalling and lower ABA levels in the SL hypersensitive genotype compared to the wildtype.

2. Agronomic and physiological responses of potato subjected to soil compaction and/or drying



Graphical Abstract

2.1. Introduction

Potato is the most produced non-cereal food crop worldwide (FAO, 2009), exceeding soybean production with 368 million tonnes of potatoes produced in 2018 (Vinet & Zhedanov, 2011). However, harvests can be threatened by abiotic stresses such as drought and soil compaction. In different climate change models, drought events are projected to decrease potato yields between 18 and 60 % globally, as well as on a regional scale (Obidiegwu et al., 2015; AHDB Potatoes, 2017). Trafficking heavy machinery on wet soils in autumn and spring causes soil compaction, a widespread issue in the UK with over 60 % of 800 tested commercial fields showing soil resistances that limit root growth rate (mm per day) and yield (Stalham et al., 2007). Moreover, soil drying can increase soil strength to the same extent as heavy trafficking (Whalley et al., 2006). During dry periods, roots growing in a compacted soil may be unable to overcome high soil resistance to grow into deeper soil layers to access water resources. Potatoes are sometimes regarded as being shallow-rooted (Obidiegwu et al., 2015; Stalham & Allen, 2004) which may constrain water uptake, even if there is considerable genetic variation in root growth between cultivars (Puertolas et al. 2014; Wishart et al. 2014). Hence, it is important to understand potato responses to low plant water availability (George et al., 2017), to develop strategies to minimise the impact of compaction and drought stresses on yield.

Plant water availability is commonly measured as leaf water potential. In controlled environments, leaf water potential during the day ($\Psi_{daytime}$) was lower in deficit irrigated than well-watered potato plants (Puértolas et al., 2014) and pre-dawn leaf water potential ($\Psi_{pre-dawn}$) decreased as soil dried out (Whalley et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2005). Tissue water deficits stimulate production of the plant hormone abscisic acid (ABA), which closes the stomata thereby restricting plant water loss (and potentially plant carbon uptake). The sensitivity of transpiration and photosynthesis to stomatal closure varies between studies. Soil drying increased leaf xylem sap ABA concentration, thereby decreasing stomatal conductance and photosynthesis rates in containerised potato (Puértolas et al., 2014) and tomato (Thompson et al., 2007) plants. In field-grown potatoes, low plant water availability increased leaf ABA accumulation and reduced stomatal conductance, but photosynthesis rates were only reduced on some occasions (Liu et al., 2006). Hence, potato plants growing in drying soil restrict transpirational water loss by decreasing stomatal conductance, which can also decrease photosynthesis rates and therefore carbon gain per unit leaf area. In addition, soil drying restricted leaf expansion and initiation in potato (Fasan & Haverkort, 1991; Kawakami et al., 2006) thereby limiting total plant carbon gain by decreasing whole plant photosynthesis. Hence, less carbon is available for tuber growth and therefore yield. However, reports from controlled environment and field experiments show variability in the relationship between photosynthesis rates and stomatal conductance, while it remains unclear which mechanisms or signals limit shoot growth in drying soil. Understanding these mechanisms is important to identify drought-sensitive growth stages, allowing more precise and plant adapted irrigation scheduling.

Soil compaction restricts horizontal and vertical root growth of potatoes in the field, ultimately reducing tuber number and yield (Van Oijen et al., 1995; Stalham et al., 2007). Smaller root systems access less soil volume thereby limiting water and nutrient uptake, which results in smaller plants with less leaf area (Nawaz et al., 2013; Stalham et al., 2007). However, the mechanisms by which soil compaction restricts plant water status and gas exchange remain unclear. Compaction decreased leaf water potential in maize (Tardieu et al., 1992) and wheat (Whalley et al., 2006), but not in sunflower (Andrade et al., 1993). Potatoes grown in compacted soil reached full ground cover later and had lower photosynthesis rates than those grown in loose soil (Van Oijen et al., 1995), and therefore produced lower yields. Soil compaction increased root xylem sap ABA levels in tomato, thereby reducing stomatal conductance (Hussain et al., 2000), and possibly photosynthesis, although ABA levels may have increased simply because sap was collected at low flow rates from plants growing in compacted soil, in the absence of any change in $\Psi_{daytime}$. Shoot and leaf ABA concentrations of tomato did not change across a similar range of soil bulk densities (Tracy et al., 2015). Moreover, well-watered maize plants grown in the field at different bulk densities showed no differences in stomatal conductance or

19

leaf xylem ABA concentration (Tardieu et al., 1992). Hence drought and soil compaction can decrease plant water availability individually, thereby limiting total biomass and tuber dry weight of field-grown potatoes (Kawakami et al., 2006; Shock et al., 1998; Stalham et al., 2007). However, little is known about the impact of combined drought stress and soil compaction on potato growth and physiology. Since heavy machinery may compact soil in wet spring months and rainfed crops commonly experience drought stress later in summer in the UK, it is important to understand the effect of both stresses combined and individually to design appropriate management strategies.

Irrigation increased potato yield to a greater extent in loose than in compact soils (Stalham et al., 2007), indicating that different mechanisms may co-ordinate plant responses to the two stresses. When a factorial combination of soil drying and soil compaction was applied to field-grown maize (Tardieu et al., 1992) and wheat (Whalley et al., 2006) plants, soil drying, but not soil compaction, decreased stomatal conductance in both species without the two factors interacting. Soil compaction, but not deficit irrigation, decreased root and shoot biomass in wheat (Whalley et al., 2006). However, to our knowledge no study has investigated the physiological responses of a dicotyledon to a factorial combination of the two stresses. As dicotyledonous leaf growth may be more sensitive to leaf water deficit as the growing tissues are exposed to the atmosphere and not enclosed in older leaves as in monocotyledons (Radin, 1983), potatoes may be highly susceptible to these stresses. Thus, the current experiment comprehensively evaluated physiological ($\Psi_{pre-dawn}$, $\Psi_{dayitme}$, leaf ABA concentration, stomatal conductance, photosynthesis rate) and agronomic (ground cover, shoot biomass, total yield, tuber size distribution) responses to a factorial combination of drought and soil compaction in a field grown potato crop. We hypothesize that both stresses limit shoot growth, but only deficit irrigation induces foliar ABA accumulation to restrict plant gas exchange and photosynthesis rates.

2.2. Material and Methods

Field and Crop Management

A 2x2 factorial combination of drought and compaction stress was set up at NIAB, Cambridge (0°05'58.8'' E and 42°14'06.1'' N) in a randomized block design with four replicates. Plots consisted of four harvest rows and two guard rows, with inter-row spacing of 0.75 m. Plant spacing was 0.3 m with 30 plants per row. On 14th March 2018, prior to planting, organic matter (municipal compost, Amey PLC, Cambridge, UK) was incorporated (25 cm depth) into the sandy loam. On 19th April 2018, the compaction treatment was imposed by driving a John Deere 6120R tractor with rear-mounted plot drill and fronted-mounted disc roller packer (total laden weight 7570 kg). The tractor ran on

340/85R/48 rear tyres at 25 PSI pressure and 340/85R/28 front tyres at 15 PSI over the entire area of the plot, so that by driving and reversing across the plot, each tyre compressed the soil twice. The soil was close to field capacity at plough depth at this stage (by irrigating to saturation prior to compaction treatment). With the soil water content and bulk density at the time of compaction, the Terranimo soil compaction model (www.terranimo.dk, Aarhus University, Denmark) indicated severe compaction to 55 cm depth, but with a lesser effect to 70 cm. Following compaction, the area was spring-tined to a depth of 10-12 cm and then roto-ridged into ridges with a Rumptstad rototiller on 20th April 2018.

Seed tubers of Solanum tuberosum variety 'Maris Piper' were planted on 25th April 2018 into the preformed ridges. All treatments reached 90 % plant emergence at 34 days after planting. An overhead irrigation boom, running with a speed of 30 m/h and nozzles hanging 1.5 m above ground, irrigated the crop. Irrigation was scheduled according to soil moisture deficit (SMD) as explained by Stalham et al. (2007) with a threshold to irrigate at 25 mm SMD for well-watered treatments and at 60 mm SMD (allowing potato evapotranspiration of 1-2 mm per day on the same soil as the present study - Stalham & Allen, 2004) for droughted treatments. Well-watered plots were first irrigated on 12th June, while drought stressed plots were first irrigated on 2nd July. Irrigation intervals averaged 5-10 days thereafter, depending on weather conditions. Soil moisture was continuously monitored by Thetaprobes (Delta-T, Cambridge, UK) installed 25 cm below the top of the ridge in two blocks with two probes per plot (Fig. 1). Daily weather data was obtained from a weather station on NIAB research grounds in close proximity to the experiment site. Soil strength was assessed at the beginning, middle and end of the season (26th April, 12th June and 9th October respectively) using a penetrometer with a 1 cm² surface cone (Penetrograph, Eijkelkamp Soil & Water, Giesbeek, NL), to a depth of 1 m from the top of the ridge (Fig. 2). There was no irrigation in the weeks before the measurements in spring and autumn, while in summer the plots were irrigated 5 days before measuring soil strength. Protective spraying against blight was carried out when necessary.

Measurements

Ground cover was assessed weekly in the two middle rows of each plot using a 75 x 60 cm grid. Leaf number and leaf width were assessed weekly on the same three plants per plot. The width of the tenth leaf (numbering from the base of the plant) was measured in weeks 24 - 29 and on a young leaf with approximately 10 cm length from week 30. Pre-dawn leaf water potential ($\Psi_{pre-dawn}$) was measured 1-2 days after an irrigation event with a Scholander-type pressure chamber. Leaf gas exchange was measured on one plant per plot and using an infrared gas analyser (LI-6400 Portable Photosynthesis System, LI-COR, Lincoln, USA) with 1500 µmol PAR (10 % blue), 400 ppm CO₂,

300µmol/s flow rate, a Block Temperature of 25°C and ambient humidity inside the cuvette. Leaf water potential (Ψ_{leaf}) of that same leaf was determined with a Scholander-type pressure chamber on the same days that pre-dawn water potential was measured. Gas exchange and Ψ_{leaf} were measured between 4 hours after sunrise and ending no later than 3 hours before sunset, with time of day being implemented as a random effect in the linear models where necessary (see section 2.3.) From the same plant, tissue samples of young, developing leaves (entire leaf) were taken, directly put into liquid nitrogen (calendar weeks 26 to 32) or kept on dry ice (calendar weeks 34 and 35) until storage at -80 °C. Leaf ABA concentration was determined by radioimmunoassay (Quarrie et al., 1988). Freeze dried and ground leaves were extracted in de-ionised water at a ratio of 1 : 50 (leaf tissue (µg) : water (µl)) overnight and then kept frozen at – 20 °C until measured. At final harvest, 2.5 m² in the middle of each plot were harvested (10 plants). Tubers were graded into size classes in 10 mm increments (from 10 – 20 mm to 80 – 90 mm) and for each size class tuber number and total weight was taken. Total yield contained all size classes, while marketable yield only considers tubers larger than 40 mm.

Data analysis and statistics

Statistics were carried out with the software R version 4.0.3 (R Core Team, 2020, Vienna, Austria). Three-way repeated measures ANOVAs were carried out to evaluate the effects of compaction, irrigation and calendar week on weekly measured variables and compaction, irrigation and soil depth on soil strength. Assumptions of independent and identically distributed (as Normal) data and sphericity were tested (Shapiro-Wilk Normality test, Mauchly's test) and accounted for if required. Due to missing data some weeks had to be excluded from repeated measures analysis. As a result, the repeated measures ANOVA was carried out using weeks 29-31 and 35 for stomatal conductance and photosynthesis rates and weeks 26 - 28, 32 and 35 for leaf ABA concentration. The analysis of the penetrometer resistance in September is truncated to depths of 0 - 30 cm for the same reason.

Two-way ANOVAs (for main effects of drought, compaction & their interaction) were carried out separately on each measurement occasion to highlight when the differences found in repeated measures ANOVA occurred, as well as for tuber yield and size. Least significant difference (LSD) values at the 5% level of significance are given in the figures where interactions are significant, otherwise error bars indicate standard errors. Regression lines were estimated using linear models.

22

2.3. Results

Environmental conditions and treatments

The irrigation schedule was calculated according to soil moisture deficit (SMD), a method successfully applied to several potato experiments in the same soil type on NIAB trial grounds (Stalham & Allen, 2004). Soil moisture at 25 cm was generally higher in well-watered treatments than in drought-stressed treatments (

Figure 2.3.1). Before calendar week 28, compacted plots were wetter than uncompacted plots, probably due to lower water use of smaller canopies in the compacted treatments (cf.

Figure 2.3.1, Figure 2.3.3). Soil moisture in all treatments increased notably after heavy rainfall in week 32 (> 20 mm in 2 days) in all treatments. Irrigation was stopped after week 34 to encourage crop senescence. Altogether, the irrigation schedule created clear differences in soil moisture between the well-watered and drought-stressed treatments. Rainfall events in the second half of the season changed overall soil moisture levels, but did not change the difference between irrigation treatments (

Figure 2.3.1).



treatment 🕆 compacted, deficit irrigation 🔸 compacted, well watered 🗠 uncompacted, deficit irrigation 🔸 uncompacted, well watered

Figure 2.3.1: Soil moisture at 25 cm depth over the season 2018. Means \pm SE of four Theta-probes per treatment) with residual degrees of freedom df = 4. Blue vertical bars indicate irrigation days, with light blue being well-watered plots only and dark blue being all plots irrigated. Green vertical bars are rainfall events with light green > 3mm rainfall per day and dark green > 10 mm per day. Statistical significance of irrigation, compaction and their interaction reported for mean values of each week with: ns = not significant P > 0.05; * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01, *** P < 0.001.

Penetrometer resistance below 20 cm depth was higher in compacted than uncompacted soils at the beginning and the end of the season. In July, the differences between treatments were small and overall soil resistance lower because the soil had recently (2 days previously) been irrigated and was therefore softer (

Figure 2.3.2). In September, the drought stressed treatments had higher soil resistance than their respective well-watered treatments, but statistical analysis was only possible at 0-30 cm depths due to limited replication in strong soil below those depths. Overall, compacted treatments showed a higher soil resistance than uncompacted treatments at depths between 20 cm and 35 cm, Soil resistance below 15 cm depth increased between April and September in all treatments.



Figure 2.3.2: Soil resistance of all treatments in the beginning (April), middle (July) and end (September) of the season. Means of 4 plots per treatment and time point with 3 technical replicates per plot with SE for all depths where no significant interaction between treatments was found. LSD (5%) given for each depth (black horizontal lines) where interactions were significant with residual degrees of freedom df = 11 in April and July and df = 12 in September.). In September statistical analysis could not be carried out for soil layers from 35 - 55 cm depth due to missing values (too high resistivity to take measurements). Measurements in July were taken 2 days after irrigation, while measurements in April and September were taken before irrigation started and after irrigation stopped, respectively. Statistical significance of irrigation, compaction, depth and their interaction reported each measurement time point, with: ns = not significant P > 0.05; * P < 0.05; ** P < 0.01, *** P <0.001.

Plant growth

Plants emerged 3 days earlier in uncompacted soil (49 days after planting) than compacted soil (52 days). Ground cover differed between compaction treatments at an early growth stage (from calendar

week 24), with plants in uncompacted soil growing faster and more rapidly reaching full ground cover than plants in compacted soil. After full canopy cover was reached, plants in uncompacted soil senesced more quickly than in compacted soil (Figure 2.3.3). Irrigation treatments commenced from calendar week 24 and plant growth in the well-watered plants remained rapid, while growth of the deficit-irrigated plots was greatly restricted in the first weeks after emergence and ground cover never reached the absolute values of well-watered plants (Figure 2.3.3). This confirms that the timing of irrigation of the well-watered treatments was adequate to maintain optimal growth. Taken together, soil compaction and drought stress reduced the duration of full ground cover and therefore time of maximum light interception.



Figure 2.3.3: Weekly ground cover of field grown 'Maris Piper'. Means \pm SE of four plots per treatment with residual degrees of freedom df = 12. LSD (5%) for week 35 is given (black vertical line), because of significant interaction in this week. Statistical significance of irrigation, compaction and their interaction reported each week with: ns = not significant P > 0.05; * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01, *** P < 0.001.

Leaf expansion only differed between treatments until calendar week 29, with the two individual stresses reducing leaf expansion compared to the control and the combined stresses reducing growth rate further (Figure 2.3.4A and B). At the beginning of the season, soil compaction limited leaf initiation

while after week 28 deficit irrigation had a greater effect. By week 33, few new leaves developed (Figure 2.3.4C). Thus, leaf expansion and leaf initiation showed similar treatment responses to overall canopy cover.


Figure 2.3.4: leaf width in the first half (A) and the second half (B) of the season and weekly leaf number (C) of field grown 'Maris Piper'. Means \pm SE of 12 plants per treatment (and measurement date) with residual degrees of freedom df = 12. Regression lines were fit using linear models.

Plant physiological parameters

To investigate whether differences in carbon gain (photosynthesis) affect shoot growth, leaf gas exchange was measured. Surprisingly, stomatal conductance and photosynthesis rates did not differ between treatments on most measurement dates (Figure 2.3.5A and B). Stomatal conductance (to water vapour) is linearly correlated with transpiration per unit leaf area. Irrigation as a main effect only had a significant impact in week 29, with deficit-irrigated plants having lower stomatal conductance and photosynthesis rates than well-watered plants (p < 0.05 for both parameters, Figure 2.3.5A and B). At this time, irrigation had been suspended for 17 days in the deficit irrigation treatments (

Figure 2.3.1). In the last measurement week, both stomatal conductance and photosynthesis rates approximately halved as the canopy senesced. Thus, adverse soil conditions restricted shoot growth, but photosynthesis and transpiration per unit leaf area (stomatal conductance) were only affected after a prolonged period without irrigation.

As leaf gas exchange did not differ between treatments, plant water status was also measured. For pre-dawn and daytime leaf water potential, generally there were no treatment differences (Figure 2.3.6). In weeks 26, 29 and 30, pre-dawn water potential of well-watered plants was higher than in drought-stressed plants (Figure 2.3.6). In week 26, pre-dawn leaf water potential was measured the night before and the night after irrigating the well-watered plots. Before irrigation, pre-dawn water potentials were similar, but after irrigation the pre-dawn water potential of the well-watered plants was significantly higher (p < 0.0001, $F_{(1,10)}$ = 33.96), by 0.05 MPa than of the drought-stressed plants. In week 29, drought-stressed plants had not been irrigated for 17 days when measured pre-dawn and soil moisture had been low for this period in drought-stressed treatments (

Figure 2.3.1). Hence, the difference in pre-dawn water potential between irrigation treatments in this week is a result of low water availability in drought stressed plants. In week 30, all plots were irrigated the day before measurements. Thus, there was an immediate response in pre-dawn water potential to an irrigation event in well-watered plants, but a decrease in drought stressed plants only became apparent after a prolonged period at low soil moisture. In week 32, compacted treatments had higher pre-dawn water potentials than uncompacted treatments. Daytime leaf water potential did not differ between treatments throughout the whole season, with values between -0.9 and -1.4 MPa (Figure 2.3.6B). Thus, pre-dawn leaf water potential better discriminated the treatments than daytime leaf water potential.



Figure 2.3.5: Stomatal conductance (A), photosynthesis rates (B) and leaf tissue ABA levels (C) measured in field grown Maris Piper under different compaction and irrigation treatments. Means \pm SE of 4 plants per treatment and measurement day with residual degrees of freedom df = 8 for stomatal conductance and photosynthesis rate and df = 6 for leaf tissue ABA levels. Asterisks indicate significant differences between treatments on a distinct day with: ns = not significant P > 0.05; * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01, *** P < 0.001.



treatment 🖓 compacted, deficit irrigation 🔻 compacted, well watered - 🖓 uncompacted, deficit irrigation 🔶 uncompacted, well watered

Figure 2.3.6: Development of pre-dawn (A) and daytime (B) leaf water potential of potato 'Maris Piper'. Means \pm SE of 4 plants per treatment and measurement day with residual degrees of freedom df = 10. Asterisks indicate significant differences between treatments on a distinct day with: ns = not significant P > 0.05; * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.01, *** P <0.001.

To understand hormonal responses, leaf tissue ABA levels were measured from samples taken directly after gas exchange measurements. In week 26, samples were taken the day after well-watered plants were irrigated for the first time and ABA levels in drought stressed plants were 60 % higher than in well-watered plants with mean values of 758 ng ABA*g⁻¹ DM and 473 ng ABA*g⁻¹ DM for drought-stressed and well-watered treatments, respectively (Figure 2.3.5C). On all following measurement dates, no treatment differences were detected (Figure 2.3.5C). Drought-stressed treatments had the highest values in weeks 26 and 35. Comparing the treatments via repeated measures ANOVA (Supplementary Table 2.1) showed no significant impact of any factor, likely due to the high variability of the data. Thus, any treatment differences in leaf ABA concentration were transient and not maintained through the growing season.

Tuber yield

Reduced plant growth and therefore lower biomass at full ground cover was correlated with lower tuber yield per hectare (Figure 2.3.7). Soil compaction and drought decreased the yield by 31 % and

had synergistic effect of co-occurring stresses (Figure 2.3.8A). These findings illustrate that drought stress and soil compaction substantially decrease yield and that a large proportion of this variation can be explained by canopy growth ($R^2 = 0.71$, Figure 2.3.7).



Figure 2.3.7: Relation between biomass at full ground cover (measured in calendar week 31) and final yield for field-grown 'Maris Piper'. Each data point represents one plot with three plants harvested for above ground biomass and yield calculated as in from 10 plants harvested per plot $(2.5m^2)$. Regression line was calculated using a linear model (y = 0.05 (± 0.0008) x + 31.42 (± 3.24)). Error bars omitted for clarity, residual standard error = 5.7 on 14 degrees of freedom.

Interestingly, significant differences in tuber size distribution were observed between irrigation treatments, but not between compaction treatments. Drought-stressed plots had more tubers between 30 mm and 50 mm and fewer tubers >60 mm (p < 0.05 for all comparisons) than well-watered plots (Figure 2.3.8B). Total tuber number was also higher in drought-stressed treatments than in well-watered treatments (28 tubers per m² vs. 24 m² tubers respectively, p = 0.036, $F_{(1,12)} = 5.57$). Hence, lower yield of the drought-stressed treatments resulted from smaller, rather than fewer, tubers.



Figure 2.3.8: Total yield (A) and tuber size distribution (B) of field grown 'Maris Piper'. Means (\pm SE) of four plots per treatment, yield calculated and tubers counted of 10 plants per plot (2.5m²). Vertical line in (A) shows LSD (5%), residual degrees of freedom = 12.

2.4. Discussion

This is the first study to measure canopy cover and leaf gas exchange of a field grown crop weekly under a factorial combination of drought and soil compaction. Ground cover quickly increased under optimal conditions, but was limited by deficit irrigation and especially soil compaction (Figure 2.3.3), whereas leaf gas exchange was similar in all treatments throughout the growing season. Slower leaf growth rate and leaf initiation in the beginning of the season reduced leaf area and thus light interception, thereby diminishing whole plant carbon gain and therefore total yield. In potato, the duration for which full ground cover is maintained explains a high percentage of yield differences (74 – 87%) among cultivars and treatments (Boyd et al., 2002). Since there were only small differences in late-season senescence between treatments (Figure 2.3.3), the time to reach full ground cover seems more important. Indeed, early-season biomass explained 71% of the variation in final yield, with soil compaction, deficit irrigation and their combination decreasing yields similarly by 31% (Figure 2.3.7). It has been established that the duration of light interception determines final yield (Haverkort & Struik, 2015) and full irrigation is necessary until after tuber initiation phase to ensure high yield (Jensen et al., 2000). While this indicates the importance of early season shoot development

in yield formation, to our knowledge the correlation between biomass at full ground cover and yield has not been reported before in potato. This finding could have an important impact on irrigation scheduling and crop management throughout the season to save water resources and maintain or increase yield per hectare. Therefore, it is important to understand the physiological mechanisms regulating canopy expansion and leaf gas exchange.

Decreased canopy growth can result from fewer leaves or reduced leaf expansion or both. Drought decreased leaf number in potato (Fasan & Haverkort, 1991;Figure 2.4) while compaction inhibited tillering and thus leaf initiation in wheat (Jin et al., 2015). Moreover, leaf expansion was inhibited by drought in potato (Obidiegwu et al., 2015) and by soil compaction in sunflower (Andrade et al. 1993). Before full ground cover was reached, leaf expansion rate decreased in the order: control > the two single stress treatments > the combined soil compaction and drought stress treatment (Figure 2.3.4A). This reflects ground cover measurements over the same period (calendar week 24 to 29). However, ground cover curves for the different treatments diverge further after irrigation treatments were imposed in week 24 (Figure 2.3.3). This is probably because the deficit-irrigated treatments produced fewer new leaves after week 26. Differences in ground cover development before week 31 (when maximum ground cover was reached) resulted from differences in leaf expansion and number of leaves; thereafter leaf expansion rates did not differ between treatments (Figure 2.3.4B). Leaf number increased until week 33 and then remained constant (Figure 2.3.4C). After reaching maximum ground cover, the canopy continues to develop, which may enhance light interception slightly, but not considerably.

Restricted shoot growth under drought stress and soil compaction has often been associated with increased ABA levels (Mulholland et al., 1996; Sharp, 2002), but ABA-deficient mutants show less growth especially under these conditions (Hussain et al., 2000; Aroca et al., 2008). In potato, deficit irrigation only increased leaf tissue ABA levels in one week (week 26, Figure 2.3.5C), thus an impact of ABA levels on plant growth in this experiment is unlikely. Furthermore, ABA limits synthesis of another growth inhibitor, ethylene (Sharp, 2002; Hussain et al., 2000). Subjecting part of the root system to either soil drying (Sobeih et al., 2004) or soil compaction (Hussain et al., 2000) increased ethylene biosynthesis and limited leaf growth rates in tomato, but not in a transgenic tomato (ACO1_{AS}) with low stress-induced ethylene biosynthesis, but similar ABA levels as wildtype plants. While these observations indicate the importance of ethylene, reduced gibberellin (GA) biosynthesis limits shoot growth under soil compaction (Coelho Filho et al., 2013) and drought stress decreases expression of GA biosynthesis genes while increasing expression of GA deactivation genes (Colebrook et al., 2014). Hence, it is possible that ABA, ethylene and GA all interact to regulate shoot growth when plants grow in dry and/or compact soil.

33

Together with light interception, plant gas exchange is important for total plant carbon gain and therefore the plant's capacity to grow tubers. Deficit irrigation, but not soil compaction, decreased stomatal conductance (g_s) in factorial experiments with wheat (Whalley et al., 2006) and maize (Tardieu et al., 1992). Potato responded similarly, with deficit irrigation only significantly decreasing g_s and assimilation rate (both p < 0.05, F-Test, calendar week 29) after 17 days without irrigation (Figure 2.3.5B), confirming previous experiments (Liu et al., 2006; Ahmadi et al., 2010a). Overall, leaf gas exchange was similar between treatments throughout most of the season and leaf-level carbon gain was thus similar in all treatments. Nevertheless, g_s was relatively low (generally < 0.4 mol m⁻² s⁻¹ (Fig. 5B) compared to other studies that report values above 0.5 mol m⁻² s⁻¹ for well-watered plants (Liu et al., 2006; Ahmadi et al., 2006; Ahmadi et al., 2010a; Puértolas et al., 2014). When vapour pressure deficit (VPD) increased from 0.7 to 1.5 kPa around potato leaves (McAdam et al., 2016b), g_s rapidly declined to approximately the same values reported here. In the present study, although VPD was high (0.9 – 1.3 kPa) on most measurement days, it only explained 2 % of the variance in g_s ($R^2 = 0.02$, p = 0.004). Since measurements within the same VPD range showed no effect on potato gas exchange (Ahmadi et al., 2010a), other factors such as plant hormones may influence g_s under low plant water availability.

Increased leaf xylem sap ABA levels correlated with decreased g_s in potato (Liu et al., 2005), tomato (Thompson et al., 2007) and soybean (Castro et al., 2019) in controlled environments. However, no such correlation occurred in field-grown potatoes (Ahmadi et al., 2010a). Similarly, leaf tissue ABA levels and g_s were not correlated ($R^2 = 0.06$, p = 0.07), with similar ABA accumulation between treatments due to higher ABA accumulation in the well-watered plants or limited ABA accumulation in deficit-irrigated plants. Leaf xylem sap ABA concentration correlates with soil moisture in pot-grown tomato (Dodd, 2007) and sunflower (Dodd et al., 2008). However, preferential water uptake from moister parts of the soil profile attenuates any effect of localised root ABA accumulation in potato, thereby minimising or eliminating root-to-shoot ABA-signalling (Puértolas et al., 2015). Here, soil moisture was measured at 25 cm depth, but the roots of field-grown potatoes can grow as deep as 80 cm to access water (Stalham & Allen, 2004; Puertolas et al. 2014). Thus, plants likely accessed water at deeper layers and therefore the measured soil moisture does not reflect total plant water availability. Alternatively, high VPD (1.5 kPa) can stimulate foliar ABA accumulation in well-watered plants (McAdam & Brodribb, 2015), but there was no correlation between VPD and leaf ABA levels in the present study ($R^2 = 0.02$, p = 0.26). Alternatively, stability of ABA levels in deficit irrigated plants suggests that (deeper) roots acquired sufficient water to prevent leaf water deficit (Fig. 6).

Leaf water potential is highest before dawn and with plants in the dark for several hours at considerably decreased transpiration rates (Ramírez et al., 2018) pre-dawn leaf water potential measurements indicate soil water availability. In contrast to the relative stability of daytime leaf water

potential (Ψ_{day}), deficit irrigation decreased pre-dawn leaf water potential ($\Psi_{pre-dawn}$) only after prolonged times without irrigation (Figure 2.3.6) as in maize (Tardieu et al., 1992). Decreasing $\Psi_{pre-dawn}$ correlates with stomatal closure in different crops. However, potato showed small changes in stomatal conductance (0.12 mol m⁻² s⁻¹ g_s difference with $\Psi_{pre-dawn}$ between -0.4 and -0.1 MPa) compared to crops such as soybean (0.44 mol m⁻² s⁻¹ g_s difference over a similar $\Psi_{pre-dawn}$ range) and sunflower (0.54 mol m⁻² s⁻¹ g_s difference with $\Psi_{pre-dawn}$ between -0.68 and -0.25 MPa) (Granier & Tardieu, 1999). Thus, decreased $\Psi_{pre-dawn}$ in potato does not necessarily result in measurable stomatal closure. Taken together, while treatment differences in leaf gas exchange were not detected, understanding the substantial growth differences requires further investigations of plant water relations and hormone signalling effects.

Under drought stress, more potatoes fell into small size grades than under well-watered conditions, as in a study of 103 potato cultivars (Aliche et al., 2019). Since drought, but not soil compaction, affected tuber size distribution (Figure 2.3.8B), tuber development seemed to respond to systemic stress signals rather than local soil conditions. However, soil resistance did not differ between treatments in the top 20 cm, where most potatoes grow (

Figure 2.3.2), so the direct impact of high soil resistance on tuber growth could not be examined. When drought stress restricted canopy growth, the available assimilates were distributed between a larger number of tubers (Figure 2.3.8B), producing a skewed tuber size distribution. Some potato cultivars undergo a second phase of tuber initiation under well-watered conditions (Walworth & Carling, 2002), which might have occurred in the second half of the season, when soil moisture increased following rainfall (week 33 and thereafter). The time until harvest would have been shorter for these tubers, hence the final tuber size of potatoes initiated in the second wave was smaller, leading to many small tubers in deficit-irrigated plants. In addition, an interaction between ABA and GA has been suggested to regulate tuberization and therefore tuber size distribution under drought stress (Jensen et al., 2010). Further research is needed to understand how tuber size is regulated.

To conclude, soil compaction and drought stress applied individually decreased shoot growth and yield, but both stresses occurring simultaneously had synergistic effect on yield (Figure 2.3.8A). Shoot biomass at full ground cover adequately predicted final yield ($R^2 = 0.71$, p < 0.001), indicating that vegetative growth in the first half of the growing season is critical in ensuring yield. This finding can be of great importance for crop management and irrigation scheduling. Since leaf gas exchange was not correlated with yield, leaf water status or ABA status, we conclude that plants under restricted water availability grow deeper roots to access water in deeper layers. Moreover, hormonal signals from the root system are postulated to restrict shoot growth sufficiently to ensure it can be sustained according to the available water supply. Further research is needed to test these hypotheses.

3. Moderate water stress impairs potato tuber growth, which resumes upon rewatering

This content is under embargo and will be published in 2023

- 4. Do strigolactones mediate stomatal drought stress responses?

 - Carotenoid CCD7 (=MAX3) CCD8 (=MAX4) Carlactone CYP (MAX1) **Strigolactones** MAX2 D14 ╬ 2 **Physiological effect**

Graphical Abstract

4.1. Introduction

Strigolactones (SL) are phytohormones that are released into the rhizosphere by a host plant and facilitate germination of parasitic weeds as well as symbiosis with arbuscular mycorrhiza (Akiyama et al., 2005; Saeed et al., 2017; Cook et al., 1966). SL can be produced in the root and the shoot (Cook et al., 1966; Ruyter-Spira et al., 2013; Arite et al., 2007) although expression of the SL-biosynthesis genes CCD7 and CCD8 (carotenoid cleavage deoxygenases) was much higher in tomato roots than in shoots (Visentin et al., 2016), suggesting that the root is the main site of SL-biosynthesis. In addition to being root-borne and active in the rhizosphere, SL are xylem mobile (Kohlen et al., 2011) and have an impact on shoot architecture and physiology (Saeed et al., 2017). SL-deficiency increases shoot branching in Arabidopsis, pea, potato and rice (Gomez-Roldan et al., 2008; Pasare et al., 2013; Umehara et al., 2010), increases stomatal conductance in tomato and Lotus (Visentin et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2015) and increases stomatal density in Arabidopsis (Ha et al.,

Figure 4.1.1: Strigolactone biosynthesis and signalling pathway with important enzymes. Adapted from Ruyter-Spira et al., 2013 and Zhou et al., 2013. MAX3 and 4 were identified in Arabidopsis and are homologues to CCD7 and CCD8.

2014) under non-stress conditions. These changes in SL-deficient mutants increase transpirational water loss. Furthermore, applying exogenous SL (GR24) lead to stomatal closure in excised *Arabidopsis* wildtype leaves (Lv et al., 2018). Since SL are mainly synthesized in the roots, but reduce transpiration through stomatal closure, they could play a role in root-to-shoot signalling under drought.

SL are derived from a ß-carotene that is transformed through enzyme activity (D27, CCD7, CCD8) into carlactone and then further converted into 5-deoxystrigol (a precursor for all other strigolactones) by cytochrome P450 (CYP) and possibly MAX1 (Ruyter-Spira *et al.*, 2013, Figure 4.1). Strigolactone signalling is then mediated by MAX2, D14, D3 and D53, leading to the morphological and physiological phenotypes (Ruyter-Spira *et al.*, 2013; Zhou *et al.*, 2013, Figure 4.1). The present study uses genotypes with a knock-down in SL biosynthesis (ccd8) (Pasare et al., 2013), a knock-out in SL signalling (d14) (Arite et al., 2009) and a knock-down in the D53 enzyme (d53), which causes increased sensitivity to SL (Jiang et al., 2013).

In recent studies, the impact of ABA on SL biosynthesis and SL signalling was investigated using hormone mutants and biosynthesis inhibitors, concluding that drought stress induces transcription of SL biosynthesis genes (Ha et al., 2014) and SL are needed for stomatal closure under drought stress or in response to ABA (Bu et al., 2014; Ha et al., 2014). An ABA-deficient tomato mutant (*notabilis*) had decreased SL levels in root tissue (López-Ráez et al., 2010) and a SL deficient mutant (*Slccd8*) showed decreased ABA levels in leaf tissue (Torres-Vera et al., 2014), suggesting interdependence between ABA and SL biosynthesis.

In contrast, different authors disagree whether SL act in an ABA-dependent or ABA-independent manner. Detached leaf assays in tomato and *Lotus* showed that SL-deficient plants (*Slccd7* and *Ljccd7*) treated with ABA (leafy twig in water with added ABA) closed their stomata less or later than the corresponding wildtype (Liu et al., 2015; Visentin et al., 2016), suggesting that SL increase stomatal sensitivity to ABA. According to these results, SL-related decrease in stomatal conductance seems ABA-dependent. However, ABA-deficient *Arabidopsis thaliana* mutants (max1, max3, max4) showed a stomatal closure similar to the wildtype when treated with GR24, a synthetic SL (Lv et al., 2018). Thus, the impact of SL on stomatal aperture can also be independent of ABA. Treating *Arabidopsis* leaves with both GR24 and ABA caused greater stomatal closure than either hormone applied in isolation (Lv et al., 2018), suggesting an additive effect of the two hormones on stomatal closure. The authors suggested independent signal transduction pathways for SL and ABA, but both eventually influence the slow-type anion channel (SLAC1), a K*-ion pump that influences water efflux from the guard cells (Lv et al., 2018). While this hypothesis explains signalling responses to ABA, SL and their combination, it does not consider any possible evolutionary benefit of developing two independent

signalling systems with signalling molecules derived from the same precursor, which ultimately target the same ion channel to trigger stomatal closure. Further research is needed to understand the interaction between SL and ABA especially under drought stress conditions.

Few studies have considered the role of SL under drought stress in whole plants, with contradictory results (Visentin et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2015; Marzec et al., 2020). SL-deficient plants of *Lotus* and tomato have higher stomatal conductance and a longer response time to ABA compared to their wildtype under non-stressed conditions. As shoot water potential decreased due to drying soil, the stomatal conductance in the ccd7-silenced line in *Lotus* decreased gradually at a similar rate to the wildtype (Liu et al., 2015), while in tomato the stomatal conductance of the ccd7-silenced line decreased more rapidly than in the wildtype over a similar shoot water potential range (Visentin et al., 2016). Both studies only provide one data point at maximum shoot water potential and stomatal conductance declines with decreasing shoot water potential. Hence, it is not possible to clearly separate the hydraulic effect on stomatal closure from a possible signalling effect. In barley, stomatal conductance in the SL-insensitive mutant (d14) did not differ from the wild-type under well-watered conditions and decreased with drying soil. Stomata of the d14 mutant closed more slowly than the wildtype (Marzec et al., 2020) as the soil dried, but the values were so low (2 - 7 mmol m⁻² s⁻¹) that their accuracy might be compromised due to the measurement range of the instrument (5 - 1200 mmol m⁻² s⁻¹). Thus, the role of SL in drought stress responses is ambiguous among different species.

Even within one species, effects of SL on transpiration differ between studies (Bu et al., 2014; Ha et al., 2014). In excised leaves of *Arabidopsis*, the water loss in ccd7 (max3) and ccd8 (max4) mutants was similar to the wildtype, while the max2 mutant lost more water in the same time (Bu et al., 2014). However, in excised rosettes relative water content of all mutants (ccd7, ccd8, max2) decreased quicker than in the wildtype (Ha et al., 2014). This could be due to a higher stomatal density in the mutants or a lower responsiveness of the stomata to ABA in that study (Ha et al., 2014). In summary, it is unclear whether SL affect drought stress responses by inducing stomatal closure directly, or indirectly by altering stomatal density and thus affecting the rate of water loss, or by interacting with the ABA biosynthesis or signalling pathway. It is possible that species differ in the magnitude of these effects. Hence, the present study examines responses of transgenic potato (altered in SL biosynthesis or signalling) to drying soil to bridge the gap between knowledge gained from drought stress experiments in whole plants and additional insights from stomatal density measurements in *Arabidopsis* studies.

In potato, like in many other plants, root water potential decreases much earlier under drought stress than leaf water potential (Liu et al., 2005) and therefore root water potential is a more sensitive indicator of reduced soil water availability. To understand whether the intensity (mild or severe drought) of soil drying affects the involvement of ABA and SL in drought stress responses, an experiment with slow depletion of soil moisture by whole plants and daily sampling is needed. Measuring leaf and root water potential as well as ABA and SL levels regularly throughout the drying cycle will help understand the physiological significance of hormone accumulation. Recent studies strongly suggest that drought stress signalling affects ABA and SL interactions and stomatal response (López-Ráez et al., 2008; Ha et al., 2014; Bu et al., 2014). However, to date no study has examined the impact of SL levels on ABA biosynthesis. The present study aims to determine the impact of SL on stomatal conductance and ABA levels using transgenic lines altered in SL-biosynthesis and SLsignalling. The potato cultivar 'Desiree' and the corresponding transgenic lines ccd8 (impaired SL biosynthesis, described for potato in Pasare et al., 2013), d14 (impaired in SL-signalling, described for barley in Marzec et al., 2020) and d53 (increased SL signalling, described for rice in Zhou et al., 2013) were monitored under well-watered conditions and after withholding water to determine the impact of SL on stomatal conductance as the soil dries. We hypothesise that compromised SL biosynthesis or signalling enhances transpiration rates compared to the wildtype as the soil dries, while increased SL signalling decreases stomatal conductance under control conditions and drought stress. Whether these postulated differences in transpiration were caused by changes in stomatal density or changes in hormonal signals (such as ABA accumulation) was also assessed.

4.2. Material and Methods

Plant Material and growing conditions

Seed potatoes (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) of the variety 'Desiree' (hereafter called wild-type, WT) and its transgenic lines were kindly provided by Colin Turnbull of Imperial College London. The used lines were a DWARF14 knock-out obtained using a CRISPR-Cas9 construct (hereafter called d14), a CCD8-silenced line using a RNAi construct (hereafter called ccd8, Pasare *et al.*, 2013) with approximately 80 % reduction in gene expression (Pasare et al., 2013) and a DWARF53- silenced line using a RNAi



Figure 4.2.1: Phenotypes of strigolactone mutants in potato 'Desiree' and the wildtype (WT) in each of the experiments. Arrows indicate axillary outgrowth. (A) ccd8 mutant with axillary outgrowth, WT without outgrowth, (B) d14 mutant with axillary outgrowth, WT without outgrowth, (C) d53 mutant and WT with axillary outgrowth.

construct (hereafter called d53) with approximately 60 % reduction in gene expression. The transgenic lines were compared to the WT with the respective empty vector construct. In a preliminary experiment the WT and the two empty vectors behaved similarly.

Three experiments under similar conditions were carried out. In each experiment, one transgenic line was compared to the WT (Figure 4.2.1). Tubers were planted at 5 cm depth into cylindrical pots (9 cm diameter x 25 cm height) filled with standard potting compost (John Innes No. 2, Westland Horticulture Ltd, Huntingdon, United Kingdom). Plants were then grown in a controlled environment at 14 h daylength (LED, B100 Valoya, Helsinki, Finland, 250-300 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹) and 18/22 C (night/ day temperature). The first stem that emerged was retained, but all subsequent stems were excised to ensure uniform, single-stemmed plants that could be inserted in a pressure chamber to measure root water potential. All pots were watered every second day (with tap water) until emergence. After emergence, plants were watered daily with nutrient solution (Miracle grow, half strength, Scotts Miracle-Gro Company LLC, Marysville, USA) to field capacity. When the plants reached 5-7 leaf stage (approximately four weeks after planting), water was withheld from half the plants (drought stressed, d) for seven days while the remainder were watered as described above (well-watered, ww).

Plant physiological measurements and hormone assays

Whole plant evapotranspiration was estimated by placing the pot on a balance at 1 h intervals prior to other measurements and soil moisture was measured concurrently with plant physiological measurements (ML3 Theta-Probe, DeltaT Devices, Burwell, UK) and the average of the top and bottom of each pot was used. Stomatal conductance (g_s) of the abaxial surface of the youngest fully expanded leaf of four plants per treatment and day was measured using a transient time porometer (Model AP4, Delta-T Devices, Burwell, UK). Subsequently a young, still expanding leaf of the same plant was harvested and immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen for hormone analysis. The same four plants per treatment were harvested each day (10am – 5pm) to measure leaf and root water potential (Ψ_{leaf} and Ψ_{root} , respectively) using a Scholander-type pressure chamber, as well as leaf area and fresh mass of the above ground plant parts. After measuring root water potential, 0.3 MPa additional pressure was applied to the root system to collect root xylem sap for 2 minutes.

Abscisic acid (ABA) concentration of root xylem sap was determined by radioimmunoassay (Quarrie et al., 1988). The xylem sap of *S. tuberosum* does not present nonspecific interference in the assay (Liu et al., 2005).

Stomatal density was measured from leaf imprints from leaflets of the youngest fully expanded leaves as previously described (Weyers & Johansen, 1985) using a Microscope with a 10x magnification ocular

lens and 40x magnification objective lens (field of view = 0.0063 mm^2). Means were calculated for n = 5 plants using 5 leaflets per plant and 3 fields of view per leaflet.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was carried out with the software R version 4.0.3 (R Core Team, 2020, Vienna, Austria). Three-way ANOVAs (for main effects of genotype, treatment, measurement day and their interactions) were carried out for each experiment (individual comparison of each genotype with the wildtype). For stomatal density a one-way ANOVA with subsequent Tukey test were carried out to assess differences between genotypes. Regression lines were estimated using linear models.

4.3. Results





Daily irrigation maintained mean soil moisture at high levels in wellwatered plants. Withholding water continuously decreased soil throughout the moisture measurement period in drought stressed plants of all genotypes (Figure 4.3.1). The ccd8 line had a higher soil moisture on day 3 after the start of the treatment, however the values did not significantly differ between genotypes in the following days (Figure 4.3.1A). The d14 line did not show any differences in soil drying to the wildtype (Figure

4.3.1B). The drought stressed plants of d53 showed a higher soil moisture on day 3 after the start of the treatment than the drought stressed plants of the WT, but values were similar in both genotypes before and after this day (Figure 4.3.1C). Thus, genotypes that were compromised in either SL biosynthesis or signalling dried the soil at comparable rates to the WT.

Stomatal conductance decreased linearly with soil moisture in all genotypes (Figure 4.3.2A). Leaf water potential was maintained at -0.4 MPa at 20 - 50 % soil moisture (Ψ_{soil} = -0.3 - -0.1 MPa, Supplementary Figure 4) and declined rapidly at < 20 % soil moisture (Ψ_{soil} < -0.3 MPa, Supplementary Figure 4) in all genotypes (Figure 4.3.2B). Stomatal conductance declined with leaf water potential as the soil dried, but similarly in the transgenic lines and the WT (p > 0.05 for all individual comparisons). In well-watered plants (Ψ_{leaf} > -0.4 MPa), stomatal conductance was not correlated with leaf water potential (Figure 4.3.2C, R² = 0.13). Stomatal conductance decreased linearly with Ψ_{leaf} at < -0.45 MPa in all genotypes (Figure 4.3.2C, R² = 0.52). There was no significant difference between genotypes in the response of stomatal conductance to leaf water potential (p > 0.05 for all individual comparisons). Thus, leaf water relations of all genotypes showed consistent response to soil drying.



Figure 4.3.2: Correlation between stomatal conductance and soil moisture (A), leaf water potential and soil moisture (B) and stomatal conductance with negative leaf water potential (C) for well-watered (filled circle) and drought stressed (open triangle) potato plants in three strigolactone (SL) mutants compared to the wildtype. Each point represents Mean ± SE of 4 plants per treatment, genotype and measurement day.

Stomatal density on the abaxial side of the leaf was similar in the wildtype and the SL hypersensitive genotype (d53), but lower than the WT in the SL deficient (ccd8) and insensitive (d14) genotypes (Figure 4.3.3A). Adaxial stomatal density was similar between the WT and the SL deficient (ccd8) and SL insensitive (d14) genotypes (Tukey test, p < 0.01), while the hypersensitive genotype (d53) showed a higher stomatal density than all three other genotypes (Figure 4.3.3B). However, adaxial stomatal density was 78 % lower than the abaxial stomatal density for the WT and d53 and 85 % lower than the

abaxial stomatal density for ccd8 and d14, respectively. Thus, abaxial stomatal density has a stronger effect on whole plant transpiration.



Figure 4.3.3: Number of stomata on the abaxial (A) and adaxial (B) side of the leaf. Means \pm SE of 5 plants (n = 5) with 5 leaflets per plants measured at 3 different points. Different letters represent significant differences according to Tukey Test (p < 0.01).

Root xylem sap ABA concentration was similar for the ccd8 silenced line and the wildtype (p > 0.05). In both genotypes the logarithm of the ABA content in the xylem sap increased linearly with decreasing soil moisture without difference between the slopes (Figure 4.3.1A). Thus, there was no difference in ABA export from the roots between the SL deficient line (ccd8) and the WT. Stomatal conductance declined with increasing ABA content (presented in log(pmol ml⁻¹) for clarity at lower concentrations) (Figure 4.3.1B). Slopes of the regression lines did not differ between genotypes (p > 0.05, Figure 4.3.1B). Hence, stomatal response to increased ABA levels is similar in the SL deficient line (ccd8) and the WT.



Figure 4.3.1: Relation between (A) soil moisture and logarithm of root xylem sap ABA concentration and (B) logarithm of root xylem sap ABA concentration and stomatal conductance in well-watered (closed circle) and drought stressed (open triangle) plants of the wildtype (blue) and the ccd8 silenced line (green). Each point represents Mean ± SE of 2-4 plants per treatment, genotype and measurement day.

4.4. Discussion

Strigolactones have previously been suggested to be involved in regulating stomatal conductance as the soil dries in various species (Visentin et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2015; Ha et al., 2014; Marzec et al., 2020). *Arabidopsis* mutants impaired in SL biosynthesis or signalling for example, lost water faster than the WT in excised leaf or excised plant assays (Ha et al., 2014; Bu et al., 2014). However, whole plants of a tomato ccd7-silenced line closed stomata more rapidly in response to drying soil than the WT, while whole plants of a *Lotus* ccd7-silenced line subjected to drying soil closed stomata at a similar rate to the WT (Visentin et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2015). Thus, it is not clear to what extent SL are involved in stomatal regulation under drought stress and what other factors (e.g. environment or species) might influence the effect of SL. The present study is the first to explore the effect of strigolactones on stomatal conductance in potatoes under drought stress. There was surprising consistency in the leaf water relations of three genetically modified lines (impaired in SL biosynthesis (ccd8), SL insensitive (d14) or SL hypersensitive (d53)) in response to drying soil, suggesting that SL may have a limited role in regulating water status in potatoes.

The SL deficient and insensitive lines expressed the previously described bushy phenotype (Pasare et al., 2013) with increased axillary shoot outgrowth, while the SL hypersensitive line showed no axillary outgrowth (Figure 4.2.1). These phenotypes confirmed the known genetic alterations in the SL biosynthesis or signalling pathway. In potato, stomatal response to drying soil was similar in WT plants

and genotypes impaired in SL biosynthesis or hypersensitive/ insensitive to SL (Figure 4.3.2A). Soil moisture gradually decreased in all experiments throughout the measurement period (Figure 4.3.1). Thus, all genotypes were subjected to comparable levels of water availability on respective days in the experiment.

Stomatal closure in drying soil is mediated by leaf water status and signals from the root (Tardieu & Davies, 1992). In the present study, stomatal conductance decreased linearly with decreasing soil moisture, while leaf water potential is maintained between 20 – 50 % soil moisture and only decreases linearly at <20 % soil moisture (Figure 4.3.2A and B), suggesting that stomatal conductance may be regulated by leaf water status at <20 % soil moisture and <-0.4 MPa leaf water potential (Figure 4.3.2C). However, stomatal conductance ranged from 250 to 800 mmol m⁻² s⁻¹ at mild drought stress (soil moisture > 20 %, leaf water potential > -0.4 MPa) in these experiments and therefore must be regulated by a different signal. Under rapid soil drying leaf or shoot water potential explains > 90 % of variation in stomatal conductance in ccd7 silenced lines and WT of tomato and Lotus respectively (Liu et al., 2015; Visentin et al., 2016), suggesting that stomatal conductance is regulated by leaf water relations. Under well-watered conditions (water potentials close to zero), stomatal conductance in the ccd7-silenced line (impaired SL biosynthesis) was higher than in the WT (Liu et al., 2015; Visentin et al., 2016). Lotus maintains this difference between genotypes in drying soil (Liu et al., 2015). In contrast, stomata of the tomato ccd7-silenced line close rapidly as leaf water potential decreases, resulting in stomatal conductance similar to the wildtype (Visentin et al., 2016). Surprisingly, these genotypic differences could not be confirmed for potato, despite being a close relative to tomato. The stomatal conductance of well-watered plants is similar to previously reported ranges of potato stomatal conductance in controlled environment and in the field (300 – 1200 mmol m⁻² s⁻¹, (Liu et al., 2006). Thus, the control plants were not suffering from water deficit and a similar response to those reported in tomato and Lotus (Liu et al., 2015; Visentin et al., 2016) could be expected. Stomatal conductance of all three tested transgenic lines was similar to the wildtype under well-watered conditions and decreased linearly for all genotypes in drying soil without significant differences in the slope of the linear regression. (Figure 4.3.2A). This suggests that SL may not be involved in stomatal closure under drying soil in potato.

At least three possible reasons may account for the results of the present study:

i. genotypic differences in stomatal density could explain variation in stomatal conductance in other studies,

- SL and other signals for stomatal closure are tightly connected via feedback loops, so that variation in SL biosynthesis/ signalling alters other signals to elicit stomatal closure, which results in a similar stomatal conductance phenotype (Figure 4.4.2),
- iii. SL are not involved in stomatal closure in potatoes under drought stress.

Stomatal density (abaxial and adaxial) was higher in SL deficient mutants than in the WT of *Arabidopsis* (Ha et al., 2014) and stomatal conductance in the same mutants was higher than in the WT (Kalliola et al., 2020), suggesting that the increased stomatal conductance of SL-deficient plants at least partly results from higher stomatal density. In contrast, SL-deficient/-insensitive potato had lower abaxial stomatal density than the WT, with adaxial stomatal density higher in the SL-hypersensitive genotype than in the WT (Figure 4.3.3). Hence, different species seem to express different phenotypes in response to genetically altering the SL pathway and assumptions made from experiments in the model plant *Arabidopsis* may not be valid in other plants. Thus, reporting stomatal densities alongside stomatal conductances is vital for meaningful comparisons. Further studies on a wide range of species are needed to understand relationships between SL and stomatal density and possibly cluster plants into different response groups.

Despite the differences in stomatal density between potato genotypes, no differences in stomatal conductance were observed (Figure 4.3.2). Thus, genotypes with lower stomatal density must have had a wider stomatal aperture (and vice versa), leading to a similar transpiration rate per unit leaf area (= stomatal conductance) in all genotypes. This suggests that internal signals regulate stomatal aperture to prevent excessive water loss. Studies that found higher stomatal conductance in SL-depleted plants under well-watered conditions (Visentin et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2015) may have worked with genotypes that expressed higher stomatal density than the WT and compared the plants under luxury water consumption, with all stomata at maximum aperture. Under these conditions it is possible to observe higher stomatal conductance of the SL-depleted lines, which is then rapidly reduced as the soil dries.

Nevertheless, the regulation of stomatal conductance seems to be closely related to soil water availability, implying long-distance root to shoot signalling. ABA is a long-distance signal that decreases stomatal conductance in potato under drying soil (Liu et al., 2005). Similarly, stomatal conductance was inversely related to root ABA concentration in *Lotus*, with higher stomatal conductance in the ccd7-silenced line compared to the WT at the same root ABA concentration (Liu et al., 2015), indicating that stomata of the SL deficient line are more sensitive to endogenous ABA than the WT. Stomatal conductance in potato decreased with increasing root xylem sap ABA concentration (Figure 4.3.1B), but in contrast to the mentioned result in *Lotus*, response of the potato ccd8-silenced line did not

47



Figure 4.4.2: Hypothetical interactions between SL and ABA in regulating stomatal closure in drying soil in WT (A), SL deficient or insensitive plants (B) and SL hypersensitive plants (C).

differ from the WT. The speed of soil drying and consequently the level of drought stress experienced by the plant differed between the studies with rapid soil drying and severe stress in Lotus (Liu et al., 2015) and slow soil drying and initially mild drought stress in potato (Figure 4.3.1), which could explain different responses of SLdeficient genotypes. Moreover, SL-deficient genotypes in different species seem to respond differently to drying soil discussed in the as first paragraph of this section. Note that different carotenoid cleavage deoxygenase genes were silenced in the compared studies (CCD7 in Lotus, CCD8 in potato). In SL biosynthesis, these enzymes are both involved in the step of forming carlactone from 9-cis-ß-carotene (Ruyter-Spira et al., 2013, Figure 4.1). However, silencing CCD7 or CCD8 could have different effects on plant

responses. For example, CCD7 may be essential in SL biosynthesis while CCD8 may be substituted by another enzyme with a similar function. Alternatively, the by-products of one cleavage step may have an impact on stomatal closure or stomatal sensitivity to ABA, in which case SL as an end product may be of minor importance in drought stress signalling.

ABA and SL derive from the same precursor (ß-carotene) and target the same ion-channel (SLAC1) (López-Ráez et al., 2010; Lv et al., 2018) (Figure 4.4.3). Thus, it is possible that in WT plants both

hormones reduce stomatal conductance under soil drying. In genotypes impaired in SL biosynthesis, there is hypothetically less competition for the precursor ß-carotene and consequently more ABA may be produced, which would lead to stomatal closure and a phenotype similar to the WT (Figure 4.4.2A and B). In plants that are insensitive to SL, SL are still produced, but do not have the physiological effect. Thus, in drying soil the stomata do not close as quickly. This could increase ABA biosynthesis via feedback mechanisms, which may lead to stomatal closure similar to the wildtype (Figure 4.4.2B). This is supported by higher ABA content in excised drying leaves of Arabidopsis mutants impaired in SL signalling compared to the WT (Piisilä et al., 2015) (Figure 4.4.3, arrow 1). However, in potato the SL deficient line (ccd8) had similar ABA levels in the root xylem sap as the wildtype (Figure 4.3.1). Thus, for this specific line the hypothesis of compensating SL deficiency by increased ABA export cannot be verified. The reverse mechanism may still be true for SL hypersensitive plants (Figure 4.4.2C). These postulated interactions between SL and ABA assume that substrate competition and feedback from the stomata are regulating the ABA/SL ratio and that ABA and SL have an additive effect on stomatal closure, but can also act singularly. This hypothesis could not be confirmed for ABA levels in root xylem sap. However, it is necessary to investigate ABA levels in root xylem sap of genotypes with impaired or enhanced SL signalling as well and in leaf tissue of all genotypes to best determine whether SL biosynthesis and signalling interact with the biosynthesis of ABA.

In contrast to the above findings, some recent studies found a synergistic interaction between SL and ABA. Compared to the wildtype, *Arabidopsis* mutants impaired in SL biosynthesis or SL signalling showed reduced stomatal closure in response to exogenous ABA (Ha et al., 2014; Lv et al., 2018; Piisilä et al., 2015; Bu et al., 2014) (Figure 4.4.3, arrows 2 and 3), suggesting that SL enhance stomatal sensitivity to ABA. In addition, roots of ABA deficient tomato mutants (*notabilis, flacca, sitiens*) showed reduced transcription of SL biosynthesis genes (CCD7, CCD8) and therefore reduced SL content and reduced ABA content compared to the WT (López-Ráez et al., 2008) (Figure 4.4.3, arrow 4), indicating that ABA biosynthesis is needed for SL biosynthesis. These findings suggest that ABA promotes SL biosynthesis and SL promote ABA signalling efficacy. Analysing SL and ABA concentration of root and shoot tissues of the transgenic lines and WT used in this study could help to determine whether SL biosynthesis or sensitivity affect ABA and SL production in potato in drying soil. Furthermore, supplying detached leaves of these genotypes with ABA through the transpiration stream could confirm if stomatal sensitivity to ABA is altered in SL-depleted, SL-insensitive or SL-hypersensitive potato plants. These suggested studies could clarify the mechanism behind the responses described here.



Figure 4.4.3: Previously proven interactions between strigolactone (SL) and abscisic acid (ABA) biosynthesis and signalling pathways. Red bar at 90° angle indicates negative relation (1), green arrows indicate positive relation (2, 3, 4).

- (1) Arabidopsis mutants impaired in SL signalling (max2) accumulate more ABA in excised leaves as they dry out than the WT (Piisilä et al., 2015).
- (2) Arabidopsis mutants impaired in SL biosynthesis (ccd7 and ccd8) close stomata less than the WT when treated with ABA (Ha et al., 2014; Lv et al., 2018).
- (3) Arabidopsis mutants impaired in SL signalling show reduced sensitivity to ABA stomata wider open than the WT when treated with ABA (Piisilä et al., 2015; Bu et al., 2014, Lv et al., 2018).
- (4) Roots of ABA-deficient tomato mutants (notabilis, flacca, sitiens) showed reduced CCD7 and CCD8 transcription (Lopéz-Ráez et al., 2010).

4.5. Conclusions

Three independent experiments showed that stomatal conductance of potato in drying soil is neither altered by the ability to produce SL nor by the sensitivity to SL. However, impaired SL biosynthesis or signalling decreases stomatal density and SL hypersensitivity increases stomatal density. It is unclear whether this is the result of more stomatal cells per epidermis cell or due to slower epidermal cell expansion. These results contradict previous findings in other species and suggest that the involvement of SL in regulating stomatal conductance in drying soil may be more complex than previously assumed. The responses shown for potato differ markedly from those shown for tomato, *Lotus* and *Arabidopsis*. This indicates that SL responses are either species dependent or dependent on other environmental factors that unintentionally differed between different studies. Further studies with several species grown under the same environmental conditions or different genotypes of the same species grown in a range of different environmental conditions could help to understand the interaction Genotype x Environment x Hormone response.

5. General discussion

Reduced plant water availability affects potato crops differently at individual developmental stages (Jensen et al., 2010). In the first month after emergence, reduced water availability restricts potato shoot growth (Figure 2.3.3), but not root growth (Stalham & Allen, 2004). After tuber initiation (see Figure 1.3.1), irrigation may be reduced by 30 % until canopy senescence without yield penalties (Jensen et al., 2010). This thesis examined the effect of drought stress and soil compaction on fieldgrown potatoes throughout a whole season and on final yield (Chapter 2), with plants under deficit irrigation producing more, but significantly smaller, tubers (Figure 2.3.8). These field results stimulated in-vivo measurements of tuber volume growth and water fluxes at bulking stage in relation to shoot and soil water status using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (Chapter 3). Water influx overnight allowed tuber volume growth, which ceased the first night that water was withdrawn (Chapter 3). Despite changes in shoot growth and yield, plant gas exchange and photosynthesis rates did not differ between treatments in the field for most of the season (Figure 2.3.5), with homeostasis of leaf water potential and foliar ABA concentration which have traditionally been associated with stomatal closure (Figure 2.3.5, Figure 2.3.6). Thus, it was explored whether the hormone group strigolactones (SL) are involved in regulating stomatal conductance when drought stress was imposed in controlled environment conditions (Chapter 4).

5.1. Isohydric potatoes:

mild soil drying restricted leaf gas exchange to maintain leaf water potential

Soil compaction and deficit irrigation reduce plant water availability by restricting root growth (Stalham et al., 2007) or decreasing soil water content (

Figure 2.3.1) respectively. In field-grown potato 'Maris Piper', both stresses delayed canopy closure by reducing leaf initiation and decreasing leaf expansion rates in the vegetative growth phase (Chapter 2). A smaller leaf area decreases whole plant water loss allowing adaptation to reduced water availability. Reduced leaf growth can either be due to reduced turgor and hence reduced cell elongation or due to hormonal imbalance inhibiting shoot growth. In just-germinated maize seedlings, increased ABA levels under drying soil reduced shoot elongation compared to ABA deficient mutants (Saab et al., 1990). However, uncoupling the hormonal effect from the water deficit effect by using specific maize mutants showed that leaf elongation rates decreased linearly with pre-dawn Ψ_{leaf} with little impact of genotypic variation in ABA status (Voisin et al., 2006). Thus, in drying soil reduced cell turgor and hence reduced cell expansion rates limit leaf growth, which delays canopy closure. The duration of full light interception determines yield (Haverkort & Struik, 2015) and accordingly treatments with later canopy closure produced a lower tuber fresh mass (Chapter 2).

Stomatal closure can also limit photosynthesis rates and therefore plant carbon gain (Ahmadi et al., 2010b). Potato exhibits an isohydric strategy in drying soil with homeostasis of leaf water potential (Obidiegwu et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2005). Hence chemical and hydraulic signals from root to shoot strongly regulate transpirational water loss as the soil dries (Limpus, 2009). Leaf water potential in potato is maintained by early stomatal closure under mild drought stress (Figure 4.3.2A-C). It has been suggested that drought stress elicits a hydraulic root-to shoot signal to induce stomatal closure, but currently available methods are not able to detect the change in shoot water potential due to a lack of sensitivity (McAdam et al., 2016b; Merilo et al., 2018). In view of marginal decreases in water potential (Chapter 4, Figure 4B), root-derived hormones like ABA are more likely to be the main drivers of stomatal closure (Thompson et al., 2007; McAdam et al., 2016b) (see also Chapter 1, Section 1.2). In the absence of more sensitive measurement methods for leaf water potential, these considerations remain hypothetical. Since early stomatal closure in response to mild soil drying is not correlated with a measurable decrease in leaf water potential in the present study (Figure 4.3.2A and B), a hormonal root-to-shoot signal is likely to induce stomatal closure.

ABA is a long established hormonal signal for stomatal closure (Zeevaart & Creelman, 1988) and stomatal conductance of potato is inversely correlated with the concentration of ABA in the root xylem sap as the soil dries (Liu et al., 2005). Furthermore, the ABA deficient potato mutant *droopy* had a higher stomatal conductance than the wildtype even under high VPD and spraying the leaves with ABA or feeding detached leaves with ABA solution via the transpiration stream restored wildtype behaviour (Quarrie, 1982). Thus, ABA can induce stomatal closure in potato. However, stomatal closure in drying soil cannot fully be explained by root xylem sap ABA concentration (R² = 0.86 for relation between stomatal conductance and xylem sap ABA, Liu *et al.*, 2005), suggesting that other signals may be involved.

Strigolactones were previously identified to be involved in drought-induced stomatal closure (Visentin et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2015; Ha et al., 2014). A SL depleted tomato mutant *Slccd7* had increased root ABA content and showed a stronger decrease in stomatal conductance than the WT as the soil dried (Visentin et al. 2016), indicating that SL may interact with ABA in early drought stress signalling. In contrast, barley seedlings impaired in SL signalling (*Hvd14*) accumulated lower levels of ABA in a rapid dehydration assay compared to the WT (Marzec *et al.*, 2020), suggesting the opposite interaction between SL and ABA under severe stress. However, three strigolactone mutants (ccd8, d14, d53) of the potato variety 'Desiree' did not differ from the wildtype in stomatal responses to drying soil (Figure

52

4.3.2). ABA levels of the SL deficient line (ccd8) were similar to the wildtype as the soil dried out (Figure 4.3.1). Hence, no influence of SL on stomatal conductance and ABA levels in drying soil was found and previous findings in other species could not be confirmed. Further research is needed to understand potato long-distance signalling in drying soil especially at mild water deficits.

In the field, stomatal conductance only decreased in drought-stressed treatments compared to wellwatered treatments on the day after deficit irrigation was first imposed (Figure 2.3.5A). On later measurement dates, the standard deviation of the gas exchange measurements was large (Figure 2.3.5B), decreasing the likelihood to find statistical differences between treatments. During the time course of a day stomatal conductance of potato plants initially increases and then decreases again (Wheeler et al., 2019). These diurnal fluctuations could be the cause for the large standard deviations, since measurements were taken over a whole day. In the field light intensity and vapour pressure deficit (VPD) change throughout the day depending on the angle of the sun and the air temperature. Both parameters cause increased variability in stomatal conductance measurements. However, no clear pattern in mean values is visible with drought stressed plants seemingly having higher stomatal conductance than well-watered plants in the beginning of the season and a lower stomatal conductance later in the season (Figure 2.3.5B). In summary, there is no obvious trend in stomatal conductance after the first watering event. Thus, stomatal closure seems to be an early response to deficit irrigation in the field, augmenting other adaptive mechanisms such as shoot growth inhibition and reduced tuber bulking as soil water deficit continues (Figure 2.3.4, Figure 2.3.8). To uncouple the latter two effects, tuber volume changes were examined over three days of drought stress (Chapter 3). During this time, controlled environment experiments showed no effect of drought stress on shoot growth or leaf area of potato (Supplementary Figure 5).

5.2. Regular water supply sustains tuber volume growth at bulking stage

Potato tubers form around 70 % of the total plant fresh weight at harvest (Saeed et al., 2008), and drought stress reduced final yield (Stalham & Allen, 2004; Saeed et al., 2008). However, very few studies investigated short-term changes in tuber growth when plants were grown in drying soil (Gandar & Tanner, 1976; Baker & Moorby, 1969). Using magnetic resonance imaging, this thesis presents the first *in-vivo* measurements of tuber volume and water content over a drying cycle of three days and nights, with subsequent re-watering (Chapter 3). All tubers of a plant were imaged individually every four hours to regularly measure tuber volume and water content fluctuations.

Tubers are generally regarded as a sink organ, with carbohydrates being allocated to them via the phloem (Aliche et al., 2020b), especially during tuber bulking phase. Nevertheless, the MRI measurements showed a diurnal pattern of water influx (night) and efflux (day) from the tuber (Error! **Reference source not found.**A). In drying soil this pattern resulted in a longer duration of water efflux in the day and consequently lower total water uptake. These water flux patterns lead to an increase in tuber volume overnight in well-watered plants, but withholding water caused tuber growth to cease on the first night of the treatment (Error! Reference source not found.B). However, volume growth recovered to values of the well-watered plants after re-watering after 2 days and nights of drought stress. Leaves of Arabidopsis grow more during the day than at night, but daytime leaf expansion rates show a stronger decrease under mild drought stress (Dubois et al., 2017; Pantin et al., 2013). More detailed data from *Ricinus communis* shows that leaf growth under well-watered conditions mainly occurs pre-dawn and decreases throughout the day. Increasing drought stress diminishes this predawn peak in growth rates until growth rates are similarly low during the day and night (Schurr et al., 2000). Transferring these results to potatoes, leaves grow predominantly pre-dawn and in the early morning hours when leaf water potential is highest, while tuber growth starts as soon as stomata are closed (and transpirational water loss is limited) or additional water becomes available through irrigation. This indicates that both leaves and tubers rely on hydraulic pressure for cell expansion. Furthermore, the decrease of leaf growth and complete halt of tuber growth under drought suggests that leaf growth may be prioritised over tuber growth, but confirming this suggestion would require concurrent near-continuous measurements of diurnal leaf and tuber growth. Such measurements could better understand possible competition for water resources between above- and below-ground plant organs in potato.

The ability to recover tuber volume upon re-watering is very important for irrigation scheduling. Soil water availability and evaporative demand determine the stress experienced by the plant. The results in this thesis show that re-watering the crop every third day under the prevailing evaporative demand maintained maximum tuber growth rates. Further research is needed to define the severity of drought stress that can be tolerated (lowest soil moisture at a given evaporative demand or highest evaporative demand at given soil moisture) with a full recovery of tuber volume upon re-watering to tailor irrigation strategies in the critical tuber bulking stage. The ability to grow deeper roots and thus access water resources in deeper soil layers or to regulate transpiration through stomatal closure will influence the capacity of a variety to tolerate drought stress conditions. Thus, an experiment with sequential drought stress and re-watering, comparing varieties that differ in root length and stomatal response to drying soil, may provide valuable data for direct application in the field.

Another interesting observation was the hydraulic lift when drought stressed plants were re-watered from the base of the pot (Chapter 3). Increased soil water content in the top layer of the pot (which contained the potatoes) immediately after re-watering was confirmed by the increase in tuber water content in the MRI measurement 3 h after re-watering. However, the soil in the middle layer of the pot remained relatively dry (**Error! Reference source not found.**). Investigating the osmotic potential of the tubers during bulking stage and under drying soil would help to understand driving forces of water flow under these circumstances.

Taken together, the results presented in this thesis suggest that diurnal water fluxes in and out of the tuber allow tuber growth overnight. Furthermore, potatoes of the variety 'Maris Piper' can tolerate mild soil water deficit (in this case for two days and nights) and thereafter recover tuber growth when re-watered. Possible changes in cell wall properties may interact with cellular turgor to determine threshold limits of soil drying, below which tuber growth may not recover after re-watering.

5.3. Early shoot growth determines final yield

Radiation interception is an important factor in potato crop performance and total intercepted radiation correlates linearly with tuber yield (Haverkort & Harris, 1986; Allen & Scott, 1980). During the vegetative growth phase, increased ground cover is linearly correlated with increased canopy light interception until about 80% groundcover, when canopy light interception reaches its maximum (Firman & Allen, 1989). Thus, the duration of full ground cover plays a major role in determining final yield (Haverkort & Struik, 2015). The maturity type of the variety largely determines the timing of crop senescence (CPVO, 2017). However, growers may choose to defoliate the crop prior to natural canopy senescence to advance the date of skin set and therefore reduce damage at harvest (Firman & Allen, 2007). Therefore, increasing the duration of light interception is best achieved by reaching full ground cover early in the season. Indeed, the field experiment described in this thesis supports this finding, with mid-season shoot biomass adequately predicting final yield (Figure 2.3.7). Both investigated stresses (soil compaction and deficit irrigation) reduced shoot growth in the vegetative growth phase and reduced the maximum ground cover value and/ or delayed when this was reached (Figure 2.3.3). Hence, reduced plant water availability (by either restricting root growth or decreasing soil water availability) reduced total light interception and therefore plant carbon gain and hence the capacity to bulk tubers. In consequence, it is important to monitor soil moisture and evaporative demand in potato crops in the vegetative growth stage and tailor irrigation schedules to these parameters in order to achieve early canopy closure.

Interestingly, plants in the deficit irrigated treatments produced smaller, but a larger number of tubers (Figure 2.3.8B). Similarly, a large study of over 100 varieties indicated that overall tuber size distribution was skewed towards a higher number and smaller tubers under non-irrigated conditions compared to the well-watered control (Aliche et al., 2019). These findings suggest that tuber number might be increased by imposing drought stress at tuber initiation stage. Nevertheless, water supply must be resumed at the tuber bulking stage as determined in Chapter 3 to ensure a higher number of tubers of a marketable size (> 40 mm diameter). Note that in the present study two heavy rainfall events in the second half of the season increased soil moisture in the drought stressed and compacted treatment to levels similar to well-watered treatments before the rainfall and remained high for several days (Figure 2.3.1). Soil moisture in the single drought stress treatment increased, but remained lower than well-watered values before the rainfall (Figure 2.3.1). As discussed in Chapter 3, this increased water availability most likely promoted tuber growth. Thus, the rainfall did not exaggerate, but possibly minimise, the differences between treatments. However, the timing of drought stress was not as important as the overall degree of stress in determining drought tolerance of 34 potato varieties (Sprenger et al., 2015). As discussed in Chapter 3, the increased water availability in the second half of the season in the present study most likely promoted tuber growth. Thus, the rainfall did not exaggerate, but possibly minimise, the differences between treatments. Nevertheless, drought stress still decreased tuber size compared to well-watered treatments (Figure 2.3.8). Further research is needed to investigate whether deficit irrigation can be timed to enhance tuber initiation, without limiting shoot growth to attain early canopy closure.

Since the tendency to produce more tubers under drought stress was highly dependent on the genotype (Aliche et al., 2019), screening commercially available genotypes is necessary to provide tailored recommendations for short-term drought treatment at tuber initiation. Furthermore, the intended marketing of the potato tubers should be considered. The variety Maris Piper is grown for many purposes including chipping, oven baking and boiled or mashed potatoes. Chipping and baking potatoes usually require large tuber sizes, so a treatment that produces more, but slightly smaller tubers may not be desirable. In contrast, cooking potatoes in retail often are at the smaller end of the size spectrum and the proposed short-term drought treatment could result in a larger percentage of the yield being marketable for this purpose. In summary, ensuring rapid vegetative growth early in the season by sufficient irrigation is important to achieve maximum yield. However, short-term drought stress treatment at tuber initiation stage could increase tuber number and still provide enough resources for satisfactory tuber bulking. During tuber bulking, irrigation needs to be sufficient to meet plant water requirements again.

56

5.4. Conclusion

The response of one potato genotype to water deficit can markedly differ between pot grown plants and field experiments. For example, starch yield was generally lower in plants grown in pots with horticultural substrate than in the field, but there was also a significant interaction between the type of experiment (pot or field) and the genotype (Köhl et al., 2021), indicating that the soil type and possibly the environmental conditions can have an effect on the genotypic variability. In hoping to generate results with practical impacts, this thesis started with a field experiment to understand plant physiological responses, then used controlled environment experiments to investigate further questions arising, while using the same variety where possible. Shoot physiological measurements adopted consistent techniques where possible, to ensure comparisons between experiments in plant perceptions of drought stress.

This thesis set out to understand potato physiology and signalling at limited water availability in different phenological stages. This was achieved by

- investigating the role of strigolactones (SL) on stomatal closure under drought stress in vegetative growth stage by comparing transgenic lines impaired in SL biosynthesis or signalling or hypersensitive to SL, compared to the wildtype (Chapter 4)
- using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) to reveal diurnal changes in tuber volume growth and tuber water content at tuber bulking stage (Chapter 3)
- monitoring field-grown potatoes throughout a whole season from emergence to harvest (Chapter 2) to determine how the plant integrates different processes to determine yields.

Sufficient soil water availability was important in the vegetative growth stage to ensure maximum canopy growth rates and therefore maximum light interception. Avoiding drought stress during tuber volume growth (tuber bulking stage) was also important, although short periods of decreased soil water availability can be tolerated with subsequent irrigation recovering tuber volume. Although potatoes show an isohydric response to mild drought stress, root-derived strigolactones do not seem to be involved in regulating this response. Further research is needed to understand the mechanisms by which mild soil water deficit elicits stomatal closure in potato.

In conclusion, irrigation scheduling needs to be tailored to different developmental stages to achieve maximum yield. A possible irrigation scheme has been outlined here, based on crop phenological stages and evaporative demand, which can be adapted to different varieties and environmental conditions (Figure 5.4.1). This makes the suggestions made here more universally applicable and more flexible than fractions of full irrigation given elsewhere (Jensen et al., 2010).

57



Figure 5.4.1: Growth cycle of potato crops with a possible irrigation scheme for water saving crop management. This schematic is only approximate and needs to be adjusted according to evaporative demand in the specific season.

Adapted from: Castlecor Potatoes

It is particularly important to compare different genotypes in future studies, as there is wide cultivar variation in potato drought stress responses (Aliche et al., 2018) and national organisations such as the UK's Agriculture & Horticulture Development Board recommend specific varieties to growers (https://varieties.ahdb.org.uk/). Institutional networks such as the International Plant Phenotyping Platform (IPPN) can allow access to novel technologies such as MRI (Chapter 3) and be of great value to compare genotypes in the future. Understanding the mechanisms of water fluxes in the potato plant *in situ* will be valuable in comparing varieties of differing drought tolerance. However, these experiments should always be accompanied by larger field experiments to determine if the effect seen in controlled environment also occurs in the field. Furthermore, it is important to conduct controlled environment experiments in conditions that resemble the field as closely as possible to mitigate unwanted side effects and genotype x environment interactions (Köhl et al., 2021).

This thesis encompasses field experiments and measuring plant biochemical / hormonal processes to reveal mechanisms of water use in the potato plant. By enhancing our physiological understanding of this crop, this approach ensures that the results from model systems are relevant to the reality of potato farming, which is demonstrated by practical suggestions for potato farming and further research.

- Abdalla M., Carminati A., Cai G., Javaux M., Ahmed M.A. (2021) Stomatal closure of tomato under drought is driven by an increase in soil–root hydraulic resistance. *Plant Cell and Environment*, **44**, 425–431.
- Achard P., Cheng H., Grauwe L. De, Decat J., Schoutteten H., Moritz T., Straeten D. Van Der, Peng J., Harberd N.P. (2006) Integration of Plant Responses to Environmentally Activated Phytohormonal Signals. *Science*, **311**, 91–94.
- AHDB (2017) Nutrient Management Guide (RB209). , 1–32. Available at: https://ahdb.org.uk/projects/RB209.aspx.
- AHDB Potatoes (2017) GB Potatoes- Market Intelligence (2016-2017). , 1–30. Available at: https://potatoes.ahdb.org.uk/sites/default/files/GB Potatoes 2016-2017.pdf.
- AHDB Potatoes (2013) GB Potatoes: Market Intelligence 2012-13. *Potato Council & Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board*, 1–31.
- AHDB Potatoes (2021) Potato Data Centre. *potatodatacentre.ahdb.org.uk*. Available at: https://potatodatacentre.ahdb.org.uk/.
- Ahmadi S.H., Andersen M.N., Plauborg F., Poulsen R.T., Jensen C.R., Sepaskhah A.R., Hansen S. (2010a)
 Effects of irrigation strategies and soils on field-grown potatoes: Gas exchange and xylem [ABA].
 Agricultural Water Management, 97, 1486–1494. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2010.05.002.
- Ahmadi S.H., Andersen M.N., Plauborg F., Poulsen R.T., Jensen C.R., Sepaskhah A.R., Hansen S. (2010b) Effects of irrigation strategies and soils on field grown potatoes: Yield and water productivity. *Agricultural Water Management*, **97**, 1923–1930.
- Akiyama K., Matsuzaki K.I., Hayashi H. (2005) Plant sesquiterpenes induce hyphal branching in arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Nature*, **435**, 824–827.
- Aliche E.B., Oortwijn M., Theeuwen T.P.J.M., Bachem C.W.B., van Eck H.J., Visser R.G.F., van der Linden C.G. (2019) Genetic mapping of tuber size distribution and marketable tuber yield under drought stress in potatoes. *Euphytica*, **215**, 1–19. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-019-2508-0.

- Aliche E.B., Oortwijn M., Theeuwen T.P.J.M., Bachem C.W.B., Visser R.G.F., van der Linden C.G. (2018)
 Drought response in field grown potatoes and the interactions between canopy growth and yield. *Agricultural Water Management*, 206, 20–30. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2018.04.013.
- Aliche E.B., Prusova-Bourke A., Ruiz-Sanchez M., Oortwijn M., Gerkema E., Van As H., Visser R.G.F., van der Linden C.G. (2020a) Morphological and physiological responses of the potato stem transport tissues to dehydration stress. *Planta*, **251**, 1–15.
- Aliche E.B., Theeuwen T.P.J.M., Oortwijn M., Visser R.G.F., van der Linden C.G. (2020b) Carbon partitioning mechanisms in POTATO under drought stress. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, **146**, 211–219.
- Allen E.J., Scott R.K. (1980) An analysis of growth of the potato crop. The Journal of AgriculturalScience,94,583–606.Availableat:http://www.journals.cambridge.org/abstract_S0021859600028598.
- Andrade A., Wolfe D.W., Fereres E. (1993) Leaf expansion, photosynthesis, and water relations of sunflower plants grown on compacted soil. *Plant and Soil*, **149**, 175–184.

Anithakumari a M. (2011) Genetic Dissection of Drought Tolerance in Potato.

- Arite T., Iwata H., Ohshima K., Maekawa M., Nakajima M., Kojima M., Sakakibara H., Kyozuka J. (2007)
 DWARF10, an RMS1/MAX4/DAD1 ortholog, controls lateral bud outgrowth in rice. *Plant Journal*, 51, 1019–1029.
- Arite T., Umehara M., Ishikawa S., Hanada A., Maekawa M., Yamaguchi S., Kyozuka J. (2009) D14, a strigolactone-Insensitive mutant of rice, shows an accelerated outgrowth of tillers. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, **50**, 1416–1424.
- Aroca R., Del Mar Alguacil M., Vernieri P., Ruiz-Lozano J.M. (2008) Plant responses to drought stress and exogenous ABA application are modulated differently by mycorrhization in tomato and an ABA-deficient mutant (Sitiens). *Microbial Ecology*, **56**, 704–719.
- Baker D.A., Moorby J. (1969) The transport of sugar, water, and ions into developing potato tubers. Annals of Botany, **33**, 729–741.

- Bengough A.G., McKenzie B.M., Hallett P.D., Valentine T.A. (2011) Root elongation, water stress, and mechanical impedance: A review of limiting stresses and beneficial root tip traits. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **62**, 59–68.
- Blanchy G., Watts C.W., Richards J., Bussell J., Huntenburg K., Sparkes D.L., Stalham M., Hawkesford
 M.J., Whalley W.R., Binley A. (2020) Time-lapse geophysical assessment of agricultural practices
 on soil moisture dynamics. *Vadose Zone Journal*, **19**, 1–15.
- Boyd N.S., Gordon R., Martin R.C. (2002) Relationship between leaf area index and ground cover in potato under different management conditions. *Potato Research*, **45**, 117–129.
- Braun S., Gevens A., Charkowski A., Allen C., Jansky S. (2017) Potato Common Scab: a Review of the Causal Pathogens, Management Practices, Varietal Resistance Screening Methods, and Host Resistance. *American Journal of Potato Research*, **94**, 283–296.
- Bu Q., Lv T., Shen H., Luong P., Wang J., Wang Z., Huang Z., Xiao L., Engineer C., Kim T.H., Schroeder J.I., Huq E. (2014) Regulation of drought tolerance by the F-box protein MAX2 in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology*, **164**, 424–439.
- Castro P., Puertolas J., Dodd I.C. (2019) Stem girdling uncouples soybean stomatal conductance from leaf water potential by enhancing leaf xylem ABA concentration. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, **159**, 149–156. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2018.12.020.
- Charkowski A., Sharma K., Parker M.L., Secor G.A., Elphinstone J. (2020) Bacterial Diseases of Potato, In *The Potato Crop: Its Agricultural, Nutritional and Social Contribution to Humankind*, pp. 351– 388. Eds H. Campos and O. Ortiz. Cham: Springer International Publishing. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-28683-5_10.
- Chen K.P. (2016) Hydraulic resistance of a plant root to water-uptake: A slender-body theory. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, **396**, 63–74. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2016.02.024.
- Coelho Filho M.A., Colebrook E.H., Lloyd D.P.A., Webster C.P., Mooney S.J., Phillips A.L., Hedden P., Whalley W.R. (2013) The involvement of gibberellin signalling in the effect of soil resistance to root penetration on leaf elongation and tiller number in wheat. *Plant and Soil*, **371**, 81–94.
- Colebrook E.H., Thomas S.G., Phillips A.L., Hedden P. (2014) The role of gibberellin signalling in plant responses to abiotic stress. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, **217**, 67–75.

- Colombi T., Walter A. (2016) Root responses of triticale and soybean to soil compaction in the field are reproducible under controlled conditions. *Functional Plant Biology*, **43**, 114–128.
- Cook C.E., Whichard L.P., Turner B., Wall M.E., Egley G.H. (1966) Germination of Witchweed (Striga lutea Lour.): Isolation and Properties of a Potent Stimulant. *Science*, **154**, 1189–1190.
- Cowan A.I.R. (1965) Transport of Water in the Soil-Plant-Atmosphere System. *The Journal of Applied Ecology*, **2**, 221–239.
- CPVO (2017) Protocol for tests on distinctiveness, uniformity and stability Solanum tuberosum L. *European Community Plant Variety Office*, 1–63. Available at: http://www.upov.int/en/publications/intro_dus.htm%0Ahttps://cpvo.europa.eu/sites/default/ files/documents/TP/veg/TP_SOLANUM_LYCOPERSICUM_044-4Rev.pdf%0Ahttps://cpvo.europa.eu/en/applications-and-examinations/technicalexaminations/technical-protocols.
- Davies W.J., Wilkinson S., Loveys B. (2002) Stomatal control by chemical signalling and the exploitation of this mechanism to increase water use efficency in agriculture. *New Phytologist*, **153**, 449–460. Available at: u:%5CUsers%5CMeggio%5CArticles%5CProcyte%5CNewPhytologist_153_449.pdf.

DEFRA (2012) Agriculture in the United Kingdom 2011.

DEFRA (2017) Agriculture in the United Kingdom 2016. Agriculture in the United Kingdom.

- Dodd I.C. (2007) Soil moisture heterogeneity during deficit irrigation alters root-to-shoot signalling of abscisic acid. *Functional Plant Biology*, **34**, 439–448.
- Dodd I.C., Egea G., Davies W.J. (2008) Abscisic acid signalling when soil moisture is heterogeneous: Decreased photoperiod sap flow from drying roots limits abscisic acid export to the shoots. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, **31**, 1263–1274.
- Donaldson S.M. (2019) *Phytohormonal and Physiological Responses of Solanum lycopersicum to Strong Soils*. Lancaster University.
- Draye X., Kim Y., Lobet G., Javaux M. (2010) Model-assisted integration of physiological and environmental constraints affecting the dynamic and spatial patterns of root water uptake from soils. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **61**, 2145–2155.
- Dubois M., Claeys H., Van den Broeck L., Inzé D. (2017) Time of day determines Arabidopsis transcriptome and growth dynamics under mild drought. *Plant Cell and Environment*, **40**, 180–189.
- Durand J.L., Onillon B., Schnyder H., Rademacher I. (1995) Drought effects on cellular and spatial parameters of leaf growth in tall fescue. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **46**, 1147–1155.
- van Dusschoten D., Kochs J., Kuppe C.W., Sydoruk V.A., Couvreur V., Pflugfelder D., Postma J.A. (2020) Spatially resolved root water uptake determination using a precise soil water sensor. *Plant Physiology*, **184**, 1221–1235.
- van Dusschoten D., Metzner R., Kochs J., Postma J.A., Pflugfelder D., Bühler J., Schurr U., Jahnke S. (2016) Quantitative 3D analysis of plant roots growing in soil using magnetic resonance imaging.
 Plant Physiology, **170**, 1176–1188.
- FAO (2020) faostat. Available at: http://www.fao.org/faostat/ [Accessed June 30, 2020].
- FAO (2009) New Light on a Hidden Treasure. *Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations*, 1–80.
- Fasan T., Haverkort A.J. (1991) The influence of cyst nematodes and drought on potato growth. 1. Effects on plant growth under semi-controlled conditions. *Netherlands Journal of Plant Pathology*, 97, 151–161.
- Fiebig A., Dodd I.C. (2016) Inhibition of tomato shoot growth by over-irrigation is linked to nitrogen deficiency and ethylene. *Physiologia Plantarum*, **156**, 70–83.
- Firman D., Allen E.J. (2007) Chapter 33: Agronomic Practices, In *Potato Biology and Biotechnology : Advances and Perspectives*, pp. 720–738. Ed H. A. R. Dick Vreugdenhil, John Bradshaw, Christiane Gebhardt, Francine Govers, Donald K.L. Mackerron, Mark A. Taylor. Elsevier Science B.V. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-044451018-1/50075-0.
- Firman D., Allen E.J. (1989) Relationship between light interception, ground cover and Leaf area index in potatoes. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, **113**, 355–359.
- Gandar P.W., Tanner C.B. (1976) Potato leaf and tuber water potential measurements with a pressure chamber. *American Potato Journal*, **53**, 1–14.

- George T.S., Taylor M.A., Dodd I.C., White P.J. (2017) Climate Change and Consequences for Potato Production: a Review of Tolerance to Emerging Abiotic Stress. *Potato Research*, **60**, 239–268.
- Gomez-Roldan V., Fermas S., Brewer P.B., Puech-Pagès V., Dun E.A., Pillot J.P., Letisse F., Matusova R.,
 Danoun S., Portais J.C., Bouwmeester H., Bécard G., Beveridge C.A., Rameau C., Rochange S.F.
 (2008) Strigolactone inhibition of shoot branching. *Nature*, **455**, 189–194.
- Grabov A., Leung J., Giraudat J., Blatt M.R. (1997) Alteration of anion channel kinetics in wild-type and abil-1 transgenic Nicotiana benthamiana guard cells by abscisic acid. *The Plant Journal*, **12**, 203– 213.
- Granier C., Tardieu F. (1999) Water deficit and spatial pattern of leaf development. Variability in responses can be simulated using a simple model of leaf development. *Plant Physiology*, **119**, 609–619.
- Green P.B., Erickson R.O., Buggy J. (1971) Metabolic and Physical Control of Cell Elongation Rate. *Plant Physiology*, **47**, 423–430.
- Ha C. Van, Leyva-Gonzalez M.A., Osakabe Y., Tran U.T., Nishiyama R., Watanabe Y., Tanaka M., Seki M., Yamaguchi S., Dong N. Van, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K., Shinozaki K., Herrera-Estrella L., Tran L.S.P. (2014) Positive regulatory role of strigolactone in plant responses to drought and salt stress. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **111**, 851–856.
- Hafner B.D., Tomasella M., Häberle K.H., Goebel M., Matyssek R., Grams T.E.E. (2017) Hydraulic redistribution under moderate drought among English oak, European beech and Norway spruce determined by deuterium isotope labeling in a split-root experiment. *Tree Physiology*, **37**, 950–960.
- Håkansson I. (2005) Extend and persistence of compaction in arable soils, In *Machinery induced Compaction of Arable Soils, Reports from the Division of Soil Management No. 109*, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Soil Sciences.
- Hamza M.A., Anderson W.K. (2005) Soil compaction in cropping systems A review of the nature, causes and possible solutions. *Soil & Tillage Research*, **82**, 121–145.
- Haro-Monteagudo D., Daccache A., Knox J. (2017) Exploring the utility of drought indicators to assess climate risks to agricultural productivity in a humid climate. *Hydrology Research*, **48**, 539–551.

- Hartung W., Zhang J., Davies W.J. (1994) Does abscisic acid play a stress physiological role in maize plants growing in heavily compacted soil? *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **45**, 221–226.
- Haverkort A.J., Harris P.M. (1986) Conversion coefficients between intercepted solar radiation and tuber yeilds of potato crops under tropical highland conditions. *Potato Research*, **29**, 529–533.
- Haverkort A.J., Struik P.C. (2015) Yield levels of potato crops: Recent achievements and future prospects. *Field Crops Research*, **182**, 76–85.
- Hilton A.J., Walker R.L., Wale S.J. (2006) Control of common scab without the use of water. *Aspects of Applied Biology*, **79**, 207–210.
- Hohl M., Schopfer P. (1992) Growth at reduced turgor : irreversible and reversible cell-wall extension of maize coleoptiles and its implications for the theory of cell growth. *Planta*, **187**, 209–217.

Holbrook N.M., Zwienicki M.A. eds. (2005) Vascular Transport in Plants. Elsevier.

- Huntenburg K., Dodd I.C., Stalham M. (2021) Agronomic and physiological responses of potato subjected to soil compaction and/or drying. *Annals of Applied Biology*, 1–13.
- Hussain A., Black C.R., Taylor I.B., Mulholland B.J., Roberts J.A. (1999) Novel approaches for examining the effects of differential soil compaction on xylem sap abscisic acid concentration, stomatal conductance and growth in barley (Hordeum vulgare L.). *Plant, Cell and Environment*, **22**, 1377– 1388.
- Hussain A., Black C.R., Taylor I.B., Roberts J.A. (2000) Does an antagonistic relationship between ABA and ethylene mediate shoot growth when tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum Mill.) plants encounter compacted soil? *Plant Cell and Environment*, **23**, 1217–1226.
- Jensen C.R., Battilani A., Plauborg F., Psarras G., Chartzoulakis K., Janowiak F., Stikic R., Jovanovic Z., Li
 G., Qi X., Liu F., Jacobsen S.E., Andersen M.N. (2010) Deficit irrigation based on drought tolerance and root signalling in potatoes and tomatoes. *Agricultural Water Management*, **98**, 403–413.
- Jiang L., Liu X., Xiong G., Liu H., Chen F., Wang L., Meng X., Liu G., Yu H., Yuan Y., Yi W., Zhao L., Ma H., He Y., Wu Z., Melcher K., Qian Q., Xu H.E., Wang Y., Li J. (2013) DWARF 53 acts as a repressor of strigolactone signalling in rice. *Nature*, **504**, 401–405.
- Jin K., Shen J., Ashton R.W., Dodd I.C., Parry M.A.J., Whalley W.R. (2013) How do roots elongate in a structured soil? *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **64**, 4761–4777.

- Jin K., Shen J., Ashton R.W., White R.P., Dodd I.C., Phillips A.L., Parry M.A.J., Whalley W.R. (2015) The effect of impedance to root growth on plant architecture in wheat. *Plant and Soil*, **392**, 323–332.
- Johansen T.J., Thomsen M.G., Løes A.K., Riley H. (2015) Root development in potato and carrot crops

 influences of soil compaction. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section B: Soil and Plant Science,
 65, 182–192. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09064710.2014.977942.
- Kaldenhoff R., Grote K., Zhu J.J., Zimmermann U. (1998) Significance of plasmalemma aquaporins for water-transport in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Plant Journal*, **14**, 121–128.
- Kalliola M., Jakobson L., Davidsson P., Pennanen V., Waszczak C., Yarmolinsky D., Zamora O., Palva
 E.T., Kariola T., Kollist H., Brosché M. (2020) Differential role of MAX2 and strigolactones in pathogen, ozone, and stomatal responses. *Plant Direct*, 4, 1–14.
- Kawakami J., Iwama K., Jitsuyama Y. (2006) Soil water stress and the growth and yield of potato plants grown from microtubers and conventional seed tubers. *Field Crops Research*, **95**, 89–96.
- Knight H., Zarka D.G., Okamoto H., Thomashow M.F., Knight M.R. (2004) Abscisic acid induces CBF gene transcription and subsequent induction of cold-regulated genes via the CRT promoter element. *Plant Physiology*, **135**, 1710–1717.
- Köhl K.I., Mulugeta Aneley G., Haas M., Peters R. (2021) Confounding Factors in Container-Based Drought Tolerance Assessments in Solanum tuberosum. *Agronomy*, **11**, 865.
- Kohlen W., Charnikhova T., Liu Q., Bours R., Domagalska M.A., Beguerie S., Verstappen F., Leyser O.,
 Bouwmeester H., Ruyter-Spira C. (2011) Strigolactones are transported through the xylem and
 play a key role in shoot architectural response to phosphate deficiency in nonarbuscular
 mycorrhizal host arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology*, **155**, 974–987.

Kramer P., Boyer J. (1995) Water Relations of Plants and Soils. Academic Press.

- Lahlou O., Ledent J.F. (2005) Root mass and depth, stolons and roots formed on stolons in four cultivars of potato under water stress. *European Journal of Agronomy*, **22**, 159–173.
- Lee S. -j., Kang J. -y., Park H.-J., Kim M.D., Bae M.S., Choi H. -i., Kim S.Y. (2010) DREB2C Interacts with ABF2, a bZIP Protein Regulating Abscisic Acid-Responsive Gene Expression, and Its Overexpression Affects Abscisic Acid Sensitivity. *Plant Physiology*, **153**, 716–727. Available at: http://www.plantphysiol.org/cgi/doi/10.1104/pp.110.154617.

- Li F., Deng H., Wang Y., Li X., Chen X., Liu L., Zhang H. (2021) Potato growth, photosynthesis, yield, and quality response to regulated deficit drip irrigation under film mulching in a cold and arid environment. *Scientific Reports*, **11**, 1–16. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-95340-9.
- Limpus S. (2009) Isohydric and anisohydric characterisation of vegetable crops: The classification of vegetables by their physiological responses to water stress. *The State of Queensland, Department of Primary Industries and Fisheries*.
- Liu F., Jensen C.R., Shahanzari A., Andersen M.N., Jacobsen S.E. (2005) ABA regulated stomatal control and photosynthetic water use efficiency of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) during progressive soil drying. *Plant Science*, **168**, 831–836.
- Liu F., Shahnazari A., Andersen M.N., Jacobsen S.E., Jensen C.R. (2006) Physiological responses of potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) to partial root-zone drying: ABA signalling, leaf gas exchange, and water use efficiency. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **57**, 3727–3735.
- Liu J., He H., Vitali M., Visentin I., Charnikhova T., Haider I., Schubert A., Ruyter-Spira C., Bouwmeester H.J., Lovisolo C., Cardinale F. (2015) Osmotic stress represses strigolactone biosynthesis in Lotus japonicus roots: exploring the interaction between strigolactones and ABA under abiotic stress. *Planta*, **241**, 1435–1451.
- Lockhart J.A. (1965) An analysis of irreversible plant cell elongation. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, **8**, 264–275.
- López-Ráez J.A., Charnikhova T., Gómez-Roldán V., Matusova R., Kohlen W., De Vos R., Verstappen F.,
 Puech-Pages V., Bécard G., Mulder P., Bouwmeester H. (2008) Tomato strigolactones are derived
 from carotenoids and their biosynthesis is promoted by phosphate starvation. *New Phytologist*,
 178, 863–874.
- López-Ráez J.A., Kohlen W., Charnikhova T., Mulder P., Undas A.K., Sergeant M.J., Verstappen F., Bugg T.D.H., Thompson A.J., Ruyter-Spira C., Bouwmeester H. (2010) Does abscisic acid affect strigolactone biosynthesis? *New Phytologist*, **187**, 343–354.
- Ludlow M.M. (1989) Strategies of response to water stress, In *Structural and Functional Responses to Environmental Stresses: Water Shortage. 14th International Botanical Congress, Berlin, July 24-August 1, 1987*, pp. 269–281. The Hague: SPB Academic Publishers.

- Lv S., Zhang Y., Li C., Liu Z., Yang N., Pan L., Wu J., Wang J., Yang J., Lv Y., Zhang Y., Jiang W., She X., Wang G. (2018) Strigolactone-triggered stomatal closure requires hydrogen peroxide synthesis and nitric oxide production in an abscisic acid-independent manner. *New Phytologist*, **217**, 290– 304.
- Mahdieh M., Mostajeran A., Horie T., Katsuhara M. (2008) Drought stress alters water relations and expression of PIP-type aquaporin genes in Nicotiana tabacum plants. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, **49**, 801–813.
- Marzec M., Daszkowska-Golec A., Collin A., Melzer M., Eggert K., Szarejko I. (2020) Barley strigolactone signalling mutant hvd14.d reveals the role of strigolactones in abscisic acid-dependent response to drought. *Plant Cell and Environment*, **43**, 2239–2253.
- Materechera S.A., Dexter A.R., Alston A.M. (1991) Penetration of very strong soils by seedling roots of different plant species. *Plant and Soil*, **135**, 31–41.
- McAdam S.A.M., Brodribb T.J. (2015) The evolution of mechanisms driving the stomatal response to vapor pressure deficit. *Plant Physiology*, **167**, 833–843.
- McAdam S.A.M., Manzi M., Ross J.J., Brodribb T.J., Gómez-Cadenas A. (2016a) Uprooting an abscisic acid paradigm: Shoots are the primary source. *Plant Signaling and Behavior*, **11**, 1–2. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15592324.2016.1169359.
- McAdam S.A.M., Sussmilch F.C., Brodribb T.J. (2016b) Stomatal responses to vapour pressure deficit are regulated by high speed gene expression in angiosperms. *Plant Cell and Environment*, **39**, 485–491.
- Merilo E., Yarmolinsky D., Jalakas P., Parik H., Tulva I., Rasulov B., Kilk K., Kollist H. (2018) Stomatal VPD Response : There Is More to the Story. *Plant Physiology*, **176**, 851–864.
- Met Office UK (2021) Met Office UK. *UK temperature, rainfall and sunshine time series*. Available at: https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/research/climate/maps-and-data/uk-temperature-rainfall-andsunshine-time-series [Accessed June 14, 2021].
- Metzner R., van Dusschoten D., Bühler J., Schurr U., Jahnke S. (2014) Belowground plant development measured with magnetic resonance imaging (MRI): Exploiting the potential for non-invasive trait quantification using sugar beet as a proxy. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, **5**, 1–11.

- Mulholland B.J., Black C.R., Taylor I.B., Roberts J. a, Lenton J.R. (1996) Effect of soil compaction on barley (Hordeum vulgare I) growth .1. possible role for ABA as a root-sourced chemical signal. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **47**, 539–549.
- Mulholland B.J., Hussain A., Black C.R., Taylor I.B., Roberts J.A. (1999) Does root-sourced ABA have a role in mediating growth and stomatal responses to soil compaction in tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum)? *Physiologia Plantarum*, **107**, 267–276.
- Munns R., King R.W. (1988) *Abscisic Acid Is Not the Only Stomatal Inhibitor in the Transpiration Stream* of Wheat Plants. Available at: www.plantphysiol.org.
- Nawaz M.F., Bourrié G., Trolard F. (2013) Soil compaction impact and modelling. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, **33**, 291–309.
- Obidiegwu J.E., Bryan G.J., Jones H.G., Prashar A. (2015) Coping with drought: stress and adaptive responses in potato and perspectives for improvement. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, **6**, 1–23.
- Van Oijen M., De Ruijter F.J., Van Haren R.J.F. (1995) Analyses of the effects of potato cyst nematodes (Globodera pallida) on growth, physiology and yield of potato cultivars in field plots at three levels of soil compaction. *Annals of Applied Biology*, **127**, 499–520.
- de Ollas C., Arbona V., Gómez-Cadenas A., Dodd I.C. (2018) Attenuated accumulation of jasmonates modifies stomatal responses to water deficit. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **69**, 2103–2116.
- de Ollas C., Dodd I.C. (2016) Physiological impacts of ABA–JA interactions under water-limitation. *Plant Molecular Biology*, **91**, 641–650.
- Pantin F., Fanciullino A.L., Massonnet C., Dauzat M., Simonneau T., Muller B. (2013) Buffering growth variations against water deficits through timely carbon usage. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, **4**.
- Parker C.J., Carr M.K.V., Jarvis N.J., Puplampu B.O., Lee V.H. (1991) An evaluation of the minirhizotron technique for estimating root distribution in potatoes. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, **116**, 341–350.
- Pasare S.A., Ducreux L.J.M., Morris W.L., Campbell R., Sharma S.K., Roumeliotis E., Kohlen W., van der Krol S., Bramley P.M., Roberts A.G., Fraser P.D., Taylor M.A. (2013) The role of the potato (Solanum tuberosum) CCD8 gene in stolon and tuber development. *New Phytologist*, **198**, 1108– 1120.

- Passioura J., Fry S. (1992) Turgor and Cell Expansion: Beyond the Lockhart Equation. *Functional Plant Biology*, **19**, 565.
- Piisilä M., Keceli M.A., Brader G., Jakobson L., Jöesaar I., Sipari N., Kollist H., Palva E.T., Kariola T. (2015) The F-box protein MAX2 contributes to resistance to bacterial phytopathogens in Arabidopsis thaliana. *BMC Plant Biology*, **15**, 1–17.
- Puértolas J., Ballester C., Elphinstone E.D., Dodd I.C. (2014) Two potato (Solanum tuberosum) varieties differ in drought tolerance due to differences in root growth at depth. *Functional Plant Biology*, 41, 1107–1118.
- Puértolas J., Conesa M.R., Ballester C., Dodd I.C. (2015) Local root abscisic acid (ABA) accumulation depends on the spatial distribution of soil moisture in potato: Implications for ABA signalling under heterogeneous soil drying. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **66**, 2325–2334.
- Quarrie S.A. (1982) Droopy: a wilty mutant of potato deficient in abscisic acid. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, **5**, 23–26.
- Quarrie S.A., Whitford P.N., Appleford N.E.J., Wang T.L., Cook S.K., Henson I.E., Loveys B.R. (1988) A monoclonal antibody to (S)-abscisic acid: its characterisation and use in a radioimmunoassay for measuring abscisic acid in crude extracts of cereal and lupin leaves. *Planta*, **173**, 330–339.
- R Core Team (2019) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Radin J.W. (1983) Control of plant growth by nitrogen: differences between cereals and broadleaf species. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, **6**, 65–68.
- Ramírez D.A., Yactayo W., Rolando J.L., Quiroz R. (2018) Preliminary Evidence of Nocturnal Transpiration and Stomatal Conductance in Potato and their Interaction with Drought and Yield. *American Journal of Potato Research*, **95**, 139–143.
- Raymundo R., Asseng S., Robertson R., Petsakos A., Hoogenboom G., Quiroz R., Hareau G., Wolf J. (2018) Climate change impact on global potato production. *European Journal of Agronomy*, **100**, 87–98.
- Reid R.J., Dunbar K.R., McLaughlin M.J. (2003) Cadmium loading into potato tubers: The roles of the periderm, xylem and phloem. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, **26**, 201–206.

- Ruyter-Spira C., Al-Babili S., van der Krol S., Bouwmeester H. (2013) The biology of strigolactones. *Trends in Plant Science*, **18**, 72–83.
- Ryan P.R., Delhaize E., Watt M., Richardson A.E. (2016) Plant roots: Understanding structure and function in an ocean of complexity. *Annals of Botany*, **118**, 555–559.
- Saab I.N., Sharp R.E., Pritchard J., Voetberg G.S. (1990) Increased endogenous abscisic Acid maintains primary root growth and inhibits shoot growth of maize seedlings at low water potentials. *Plant physiology*, 93, 1329–36. Available at: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1062676&tool=pmcentrez&rende rtype=abstract.
- Saeed H., Grove I.G., Kettlewell P.S., Hall N.W. (2008) Potential of partial rootzone drying as an alternative irrigation technique for potatoes (Solanum tuberosum). *Annals of Applied Biology*, 152, 71–80.
- Saeed W., Naseem S., Ali Z. (2017) Strigolactones biosynthesis and their role in abiotic stress resilience in plants: A critical review. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, **8**, 1–13.
- Schurr U., Heckenberger U., Herdel K., Walter A., Feil R. (2000) Leaf development in Ricinus communis during drought stress: Dynamics of growth processes, of cellular structure and of sink-source transition. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **51**, 1515–1529.
- Sharp R. (2002) Interaction with ethylene: changing views on the role of abscisic acid in root and shoot growth responses to water stress. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, **25**, 211–222.
- Sharp R.E., LeNoble M.E., Else M.A., Thorne E.T., Gherardi F. (2000) Endogenous ABA maintains shoot growth in tomato independently of effects on plant water balance: Evidence for an interaction with ethylene. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **51**, 1575–1584.
- Shock C.C., Feibert E.B.G., Saunders L.D. (1998) Potato Yield and Quality Response to Deficit Irrigation. *HortScience*, **33**, 655–659.
- Siefritz F., Tyree M.T., Lovisolo C., Schubert A., Kaldenhoff R. (2002) PIP1 plasma membrane aquaporins in tobacco: From cellular effects to function in plants. *Plant Cell*, **14**, 869–876.
- Silva J.V., Reidsma P., van Ittersum M.K. (2017) Yield gaps in Dutch arable farming systems: Analysis at crop and crop rotation level. *Agricultural Systems*, **158**, 78–92. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2017.06.005.

- Slovik S., Daeter W., Hartung W. (1995) Review article: Compartmental redistribution and longdistance transport of abscisic acid (ABA) in plants as influenced by environmental changes in the rhizosphere -a biomathematical model. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **46**, 881–894.
- Smit A.L., Groenwold J. (2005) Root characteristics of selected field crops: Data from the Wageningen Rhizolab (1990-2002). *Plant and Soil*, **272**, 365–384.
- Sobeih W.Y., Dodd I.C., Bacon M.A., Grierson D., Davies W.J. (2004) Long-distance signals regulating stomatal conductance and leaf growth in tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum) plants subjected to partial root-zone drying. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, **55**, 2353–2363.
- Spollen W.G., Lenoble M.E., Samuels T.D., Bernstein N., Sharp R.E. (2000) Abscisic acid accumulation maintains maize primary root elongation at low water potentials by restricting ethylene production. *Plant Physiology*, **122**, 967–976.
- Stalham M.A., Allen E.J. (2004) Water uptake in the potato (Solanum tuberosum) crop. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, **142**, 373–393.
- Stalham M.A., Allen E.J., Rosenfeld A.B., Herry F.X. (2007) Effects of soil compaction in potato (Solanum tuberosum) crops. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, **145**, 295.

Taiz L., Zeiger E. (2010) Plant Physiology 5th editio. Sinauer Associates.

- Tardieu F., Davies W.J. (1992) Stomatal Response to Abscisic Acid Is a Function of Current Plant Water Status. , **98**, 540–545.
- Tardieu F., Zhang J., Katerij N., Bethenod O., Palmer S., Davies W.J. (1992) Xylem ABA controls the stomatal conductance of field-grown maize subjected to soil compaction or soil drying. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, **15**, 193–197.
- Thompson A.J., Mulholland B.J., Jackson A.C., McKee J.M.T., Hilton H.W., Symonds R.C., Sonneveld T., Burbidge A., Stevenson P., Taylor I.B. (2007) Regulation and manipulation of ABA biosynthesis in roots. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, **30**, 67–78.
- Torres-Vera R., García J.M., Pozo M.J., López-Ráez J.A. (2014) Do strigolactones contribute to plant defence? *Molecular Plant Pathology*, **15**, 211–216.

- Tracy S.R., Black C.R., Roberts J.A., Dodd I.C., Mooney S.J. (2015) Using X-ray Computed Tomography to explore the role of abscisic acid in moderating the impact of soil compaction on root system architecture. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, **110**, 11–18.
- Umehara M., Hanada A., Magome H., Takeda-Kamiya N., Yamaguchi S. (2010) Contribution of strigolactones to the inhibition of tiller bud outgrowth under phosphate deficiency in rice. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, **51**, 1118–1126.
- Valluru R., Davies W.J., Reynolds M.P., Dodd I.C. (2016) Foliar abscisic acid-to-ethylene accumulation and response regulate shoot growth sensitivity to mild drought in wheat. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, **7**, 1–13.
- Venkatesh J., Yu J.W., Park S.W. (2013) Genome-wide analysis and expression profiling of the Solanum tuberosum aquaporins. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, **73**, 392–404. Available at: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2013.10.025.
- Verma V., Ravindran P., Kumar P.P. (2016) Plant hormone-mediated regulation of stress responses.
 BMC Plant Biology, 16, 86. Available at: http://bmcplantbiol.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12870-016-0771-y.
- Vinet L., Zhedanov A. (2011) A "missing" family of classical orthogonal polynomials. *Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical*, **44**, 1689–1699. Available at: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC.
- Visentin I., Vitali M., Ferrero M., Zhang Y., Ruyter-Spira C., Novák O., Strnad M., Lovisolo C., Schubert
 A., Cardinale F. (2016) Low levels of strigolactones in roots as a component of the systemic signal of drought stress in tomato. *New Phytologist*, **212**, 954–963.
- Vogt E., Schönherr J., Schmidt H.W. (1983) Water permeability of periderm membranes isolated enzymatically from potato tubers (Solanum tuberosum L.). *Planta*, **158**, 294–301.
- Voisin A.S., Reidy B., Parent B., Rolland G., Redondo E., Gerentes D., Tardieu F., Muller B. (2006) Are ABA, ethylene or their interaction involved in the response of leaf growth to soil water deficit? An analysis using naturally occurring variation or genetic transformation of ABA production in maize. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, **29**, 1829–1840.
- Vos J., Haverkort A.J. (2007) Water availability and potato crop performance, In *Potato Biology and Biotechnology: Advances and Perspectives*, pp. 333–351. Elsevier B.V.

- Walworth J.L., Carling D.E. (2002) Tuber initiation and development in irrigated and non-irrigated potatoes. *American Journal of Potato Research*, **79**, 387–395.
- Wang L., Liu Y., Feng S., Yang J., Li D., Zhang J. (2017) Roles of plasmalemma aquaporin gene StPIP1 in enhancing drought tolerance in potato. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, **8**, 1–14.
- Weatherhead E.K. (2007) Survey of irrigation of outdoor crops in 2005 England and Wales. Available at: http://dspace.lib.cranfield.ac.uk/handle/1826/2869.
- Weil R., Brady N. (2016) Pore Space of Mineral Soils, In The Nature and Properties of Soils, pp. 189–192.PearsonEducationLtd.Availableat:https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/lancaster/detail.action?docID=5186149.
- Weyers J.D.B., Johansen L.G. (1985) Accurate Estimation of Stomatal Aperture From Silicone Rubber Impressions. *New Phytologist*, **101**, 109–115.
- Whalley W.R., Clark L.J., Gowing D.J.G., Cope R.E., Lodge R.J., Leeds-Harrison P.B. (2006) Does soil strength play a role in wheat yield losses caused by soil drying? *Plant and Soil*, **280**, 279–290.
- Wilkinson S., Davies W.J. (1997) Xylem Sap pH Increase: A Drought Signal Received at the Apoplastic Face of the Guard Cell That Involves the Suppression of Saturable Abscisic Acid Uptake by the Epidermal Symplast. *Plant Physiology*, **113**, 559–573.
- Wishart J., George T.S., Brown L.K., White P.J., Ramsay G., Jones H., Gregory P.J. (2014) Field phenotyping of potato to assess root and shoot characteristics associated with drought tolerance. *Plant and Soil*, **378**, 351–363.
- Wolkowski R., Lowery B. (2008) Soil compaction : Causes , concerns , and cures. *University of Wisconsin Extension*, A3367, 1–8.
- Zargar S.M., Nagar P., Deshmukh R., Nazir M., Wani A.A., Masoodi K.Z., Agrawal G.K., Rakwal R. (2017)
 Aquaporins as potential drought tolerance inducing proteins: Towards instigating stress tolerance. *Journal of Proteomics*, **169**, 233–238. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2017.04.010.
- Zeevaart J.A.D., Creelman R.A. (1988) Metabolism and Physiology of Abscisic Acid. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology*, **39**, 439–473.

- Zhang J., Davies W.J. (1989) Abscisic acid produced in dehydrating roots may enable the plant to measure the water status of the soil - ZHANG - 2006 - Plant, Cell & Environment - Wiley Online Library. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, **12**, 73–81.
- Zhou F., Lin Q., Zhu L., Ren Y., Zhou K., Shabek N., Wu F., Mao H., Dong W., Gan L., Ma W., Gao H., Chen J., Yang C., Wang D., Tan J., Zhang X., Guo X., Wang J., Jiang L., Liu X., Chen W., Chu J., Yan C., Ueno K., Ito S., Asami T., Cheng Z., Wang J., Lei C., Zhai H., Wu C., Wang H., Zheng N., Wan J. (2013) D14-SCF D3 -dependent degradation of D53 regulates strigolactone signalling. *Nature*, 504, 406–410.

7. Supplementary Data to Chapter 2

Supplementary Table 2.1: Supplementary Table 1: outcome of repeated measures ANOVAs for the measured plant physiological parameters. F-values and p-values are reported and printed bold where p < 0.05. P-values have been adjusted by Greenhouse-Geisser correction for the main factor 'week' and all interactions with the factor 'week' involved in the parameters leaf width (both time intervals), leaf number, leaf water potential (pre-dawn and daytime) and stomatal conductance.

outcome of				compaction:	compaction:	irrigation: cal	compaction:	weeks used
repeated measures	compaction	irrigation	calendar week	irrigation			irrigation:	in the
ANOVA				Ingation	Cal. WEEK	Week	cal. week	analysis
soil moisturo	$F_{(1, 4)} = 1.61,$	F _(1, 4) = 8.11,	F _(16, 64) = 11.42 ,	$F_{(1, 4)} = 0.23$,	F _(16, 64) = 1.21	F _(16, 64) = 1.32	F _(16, 64) = 1.20	24 40
son moisture	p = 0.27	p = 0.047	p < 0.001	p = 0.66	p = 0.29	p = 0.21	p = 0.29	24 – 40
ground cover	F _(1, 12) = 21.11,	$F_{(1, 12)} = 11.47,$	F _(17, 204) = 135.20,	$F_{(1, 12)} = 0.04,$	$F_{(17, 204)} = 12.87,$	F _(17, 204) = 2.07 ,	$F_{(17, 204)} = 0.76,$	22 - 30
ground cover	p < 0.001	p = 0.005	p < 0.001	p = 0.84	p < 0.001	p = 0.009	p = 0.74	22 - 55
leaf width	F _(1, 12) = 37.46 ,	F _(1, 12) = 6.91,	F _(6, 72) = 124.03,	$F_{(1, 12)} = 1.24,$	$F_{(6, 72)} = 6.22,$	F _(6, 72) = 8.64,	F _(6, 72) = 1.11,	26 - 20
first half (Fig. 4A)	p < 0.001	p = 0.022	p < 0.001	p = 0.29	p = 0.004	p < 0.001	p = 0.35	20-29
leaf width	$F_{(1, 12)} = 0.70,$	$F_{(1, 12)} = 0.30,$	F _(5, 60) = 62.03,	$F_{(1, 12)} = 0.07,$	$F_{(5, 60)} = 0.61,$	$F_{(5, 60)} = 0.38,$	$F_{(5, 60)} = 0.67,$	20 - 26
second half (Fig 4B)	p = 0.42	p = 0.59	p < 0.001	p = 0.80	p = 0.59	p = 0.73	p = 0.55	30-30
leaf number	F _(1, 12) = 18.55,	$F_{(1, 12)} = 46.84,$	F _(11, 132) = 461.06,	$F_{(1, 12)} = 3.27,$	F _(11, 132) = 1.88,	F _(11, 132) = 11.56,	$F_{(11, 132)} = 1.64,$	26 - 36
	p = 0.001	p < 0.001	p < 0.001	p = 0.96	p = 0.16	p < 0.001	p = 0.21	20-30
pre-dawn leaf	F _(1, 10) = 7.72	F _(1, 10) = 12.96 ,	F _(9.90) = 5.85,	$F_{(1, 10)} = 0.28,$	F _(9.90) = 1.96,	$F_{(9.90)} = 2.41,$	$F_{(9.90)} = 0.30,$	26 - 32, 34,
water potential	p = 0.02	p = 0.005	p = 0.002	p = 0.61	p = 0.13	p = 0.08	p = 0.85	35
daytime leaf water	$F_{(1, 10)} = 2.58,$	$F_{(1, 10)} = 0.29,$	F _(8, 80) = 10.08,	$F_{(1, 10)} = 2.37,$	$F_{(8, 80)} = 0.33,$	$F_{(8, 80)} = 0.70,$	$F_{(8, 80)} = 0.61$,	26 – 32, 34,
potential	p = 0.14	p = 0.60	p < 0.001	p = 0.15	p = 0.78	p = 0.54	p = 0.60	35

				compaction:	compaction:	irrigation: cal	compaction:	weeks used
Suppl. Table 2.1	compaction	irrigation	calendar week	invigation			irrigation:	in the
continued				irrigation	cal. week	week	cal. week	analysis
stomatal	$F_{(1, 8)} = 1.48,$	$F_{(1, 8)} = 0.51,$	F _(3, 24) = 3.50,	$F_{(1, 8)} = 0.01$,	$F_{(3, 24)} = 0.80,$	F _(3, 24) = 0.18,	F _(3, 24) = 0.38,	20 - 31 35
conductance	p = 0.26	p = 0.49	p = 0.07	p = 0.94	p = 0.44	p =0.77	p = 0.63	25 - 51, 55
photosynthesis	$F_{(1, 8)} = 2.61,$	$F_{(1, 8)} = 0.54,$	F _(3, 24) = 7.62 ,	$F_{(1, 8)} = 0.28,$	$F_{(3, 24)} = 0.24,$	$F_{(3, 24)} = 0.38,$	F _(3, 24) = 1.23,	20 - 21 25
rate	p = 0.15	p = 0.48	p = 0.001	p = 0.61	p = 0.87	p = 0.77	p = 0.32	29 - 31, 35
Leaf ABA	$F_{(1, 6)} = 0.05,$	$F_{(1, 6)} = 0.83,$	F _(5, 30) = 3.67 ,	$F_{(1, 6)} = 0.36$,	$F_{(5, 30)} = 1.04,$	F _(5, 30) = 2.79,	F _(5, 30) = 1.17,	26 – 28, 32,
concentration	p = 0.84	p = 0.40	p = 0.01	p = 0.57	p = 0.41	p =0.03	p = 0.97	35

Supplementary Table 2.2: Supplementary Table 2: outcome of repeated measures ANOVAs for penetrometer resistance measurements. F-values and p-values are reported and printed bold where p < 0.05. P-values have been adjusted by Greenhouse-Geisser correction for the main factor 'week' and all interactions with the factor 'week' involved

outcome of repeated measures ANOVA	compaction	irrigation	depth measured	compaction: irrigation	compaction: depth	irrigation: depth	compaction: irrigation: depth
penetrometer	F _(1, 11) = 20.32,	$F_{(1, 11)} = 0.14,$	F _(10, 110) = 176.64,	F _(1, 11) = 1.81,	$F_{(10, 110)} = 3.11,$	$F_{(10, 110)} = 0.42,$	$F_{(10, 110)} = 0.45,$
resistance in April	p = 0.0009	p = 0.72	p < 0.0001	p = 0.21	p = 0.046	p = 0.72	p = 0.70
penetrometer	$F_{(1, 11)} = 0.82,$	$F_{(1, 11)} = 0.21,$	$F_{(10, 110)} = 0.006,$	F _(1, 11) = 90.51,	$F_{(10, 110)} = 2.02,$	$F_{(10, 110)} = 1.04,$	$F_{(10, 110)} = 1.18$,
resistance in July	p = 0.38	p = 0.65	p < 0.001	p = 0.94	p = 0.11	p = 0.40	p = 0.33
penetrometer	$F_{(1, 12)} = 5.40,$	$F_{(1, 12)} = 2.32,$	F _(5, 60) = 163.07,	$F_{(1, 12)} = 0.03,$	F _(5, 60) = 17.96,	F _(5, 60) = 3.91 ,	$F_{(5, 60)} = 0.59,$
resistance in Sep	p = 0.04	p = 0.15	p < 0.001	p = 0.86	p < 0.001	p = 0.03	p = 0.58
(only 0-30 cm depth)	P	F	r	F•	P	F	F

8. Supplementary data to Chapter 3

Supplementary Table 3.1: F-values and p-values of repeated measures ANOVAS for all presented parameters.

RM ANOVA outcome	treatment	time point	interaction					
Stomatal Conductance								
stomatal Conductance	F 40.07	F 0.42	F 44.66					
stomatal Conductance	$F_{(1,6)} = 10.87$	$F_{(1,21)} = 0.42$	$F_{(1,21)} = 44.66$					
pre re-watering	p = 0.017 *	p = 0.53	p < 0.0001 ***					
Only 1 time point post-watering								
stomatal Conductance	F _(1.6) = 13.47	$F_{(1.37)} = 0.65$	$F_{(1,37)} = 2.35$					
overall	n = 0.011 *	n = 0.43	n = 0.13					
Dhot	cosynthesis rate	p on o	p 0.10					
FIIO	losynthesis rate							
photosynthesis rate	$F_{(1.6)} = 10.79$	$F_{(1,21)} = 14.33$	$F_{(1,21)} = 65.68$					
nre re-watering	n = 0.017 *	n = 0.0011 **	n < 0.0001 ***					
Only 1 time point post watering	p - 0.017	p = 0.0011	p < 0.0001					
Only I time point post-watering								
photosynthesis rate	$F_{(1,6)} = 16.16$	$F_{(1,37)} = 4.04$	$F_{(1,37)} = 5.27$					
overall	p = 0.007 **	p = 0.052	p = 0.028 *					
Leaf	water potential							
leaf water potential	$F_{(1.6)} = 13.28$	$F_{(1.6)} = 28.92$	$F_{(1.6)} = 45.18$					
Pre-rewatering	n = 0.011 *	n = 0.0017 **	n = 0.0005 ***					
leaf water notential	$F(x_0) = 5.28$	$F_{11} = 1/125$	$F_{(1,2)} = 2.04$					
	$\Gamma_{(1,6)} = 3.20$	$F_{(1,5)} = 14.23$	1(1,5) = 2.04					
Post-rewatering	p = 0.061	p = 0.013 *	p = 0.21					
leaf water potential	$F_{(1,6)} = 1.70$	$F_{(1, 14)} = 0.28$	$F_{(1, 14)} = 0.28$					
overall	p = 0.24	p = 0. 60	p = 0. 60					
Leaf tissue ABA								
Le	at tissue ABA							
leaf tissue ABA	$F_{(1,6)} = 2.19$	F _(1,6) = 6.22	F _(1.6) = 13.15					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering	$F_{(1,6)} = 2.19$ p = 0.19	F _(1,6) = 6.22 p = 0.047 *	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 *					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA	$F_{(1,6)} = 2.19$ p = 0.19 $F_{(4,6)} = 5.28$	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 *	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(4,5)} = 2.04$					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post ro watering	$F_{(1,6)} = 2.19$ p = 0.19 $F_{(1,6)} = 5.28$ p = 0.061	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 * $F_{(1,5)} = 14.25$ p = 0.012 *	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ p = 0.21					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering	F _(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F _(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061	F _(1,6) = 6.22 p = 0.047 * F _(1,5) = 14.25 p = 0.013 *	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ $p = 0.010 *$ $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ $p = 0.21$					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA	F _(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F _(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F _(1,6) = 3.62	F _(1,6) = 6.22 p = 0.047 * F _(1,5) = 14.25 p = 0.013 * F _(1, 21) = 0.67	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ $p = 0.010 *$ $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ $p = 0.21$ $F_{(1,21)} = 0.07$					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA overall	F _(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F _(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F _(1,6) = 3.62 p = 0.11	F _(1,6) = 6.22 p = 0.047 * F _(1,5) = 14.25 p = 0.013 * F _(1, 21) = 0.67 p = 0. 42	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ p = 0.21 $F_{(1,21)} = 0.07$ p = 0.80					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA overall mea	F _(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F _(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F _(1,6) = 3.62 p = 0.11 m soil moisture	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 * $F_{(1,5)} = 14.25$ p = 0.013 * $F_{(1, 21)} = 0.67$ p = 0. 42	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ p = 0.21 $F_{(1,21)} = 0.07$ p = 0.80					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA overall mean soil moisture	F _(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F _(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F _(1,6) = 3.62 p = 0.11 m soil moisture F _(1,6) = 18.90	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 * F_{(1,5)} = 14.25 p = 0.013 * F_{(1, 21)} = 0.67 p = 0.42 F_{(1,30)} = 75.28	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ p = 0.21 $F_{(1, 21)} = 0.07$ p = 0.80 $F_{(1,30)} = 48.15$					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA overall mean soil moisture pre rewatering	F _(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F _(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F _(1,6) = 3.62 p = 0.11 m soil moisture F _(1,6) = 18.90 p = 0.005 **	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 * F_{(1,5)} = 14.25 p = 0.013 * F_{(1, 21)} = 0.67 p = 0.42 F_{(1,30)} = 75.28 p < 0.0001 ***	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ p = 0.21 $F_{(1, 21)} = 0.07$ p = 0.80 $F_{(1,30)} = 48.15$ p < 0.0001 ***					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA overall mean soil moisture pre rewatering mean soil moisture	F(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F(1,6) = 3.62 p = 0.11 m soil moisture F(1,6) = 18.90 p = 0.005 ** F(1,6) = 34.27	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 * $F_{(1,5)} = 14.25$ p = 0.013 * $F_{(1,21)} = 0.67$ p = 0. 42 $F_{(1,30)} = 75.28$ p < 0.0001 *** $F_{(1,21)} = 22.11$	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ p = 0.21 $F_{(1,21)} = 0.07$ p = 0.80 $F_{(1,30)} = 48.15$ p < 0.0001 *** $F_{(1,6)} = 4.02$					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA overall mean soil moisture pre rewatering mean soil moisture post re-watering mean soil moisture	F _(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F _(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F _(1,6) = 3.62 p = 0.11 m soil moisture F _(1,6) = 18.90 p = 0.005 ** F _(1,6) = 34.27 p = 0.0011 **	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 * F_{(1,5)} = 14.25 p = 0.013 * F_{(1,21)} = 0.67 p = 0.42 $F_{(1,30)} = 75.28$ p < 0.0001 *** F_{(1,6)} = 22.11 p = 0.0022 **	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ p = 0.21 $F_{(1,21)} = 0.07$ p = 0.80 $F_{(1,30)} = 48.15$ p < 0.0001 *** $F_{(1,6)} = 4.02$ p = 0.09					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA overall mean soil moisture pre rewatering mean soil moisture post re-watering mean soil moisture post re-watering	F(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F(1,6) = 3.62 p = 0.11 m soil moisture F(1,6) = 18.90 p = 0.005 ** F(1,6) = 34.27 p = 0.0011 **	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 * F_{(1,5)} = 14.25 p = 0.013 * F_{(1,21)} = 0.67 p = 0.42 F_{(1,30)} = 75.28 p < 0.0001 **** F_{(1,6)} = 22.11 p = 0.0033 **	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ p = 0.21 $F_{(1,21)} = 0.07$ p = 0.80 $F_{(1,30)} = 48.15$ p < 0.0001 **** $F_{(1,6)} = 4.02$ p = 0.09					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA overall mean soil moisture pre rewatering mean soil moisture post re-watering mean soil moisture	F(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F(1,6) = 3.62 p = 0.11 m soil moisture F(1,6) = 18.90 p = 0.005 ** F(1,6) = 34.27 p = 0.0011 ** F(1,6) = 2.32	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 * F_{(1,5)} = 14.25 p = 0.013 * F_{(1,21)} = 0.67 p = 0.42 F_{(1,30)} = 75.28 p < 0.0001 **** F_{(1,6)} = 22.11 p = 0.0033 ** F_{(1,46)} = 0.64	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ p = 0.21 $F_{(1,21)} = 0.07$ p = 0.80 $F_{(1,30)} = 48.15$ p < 0.0001 **** $F_{(1,6)} = 4.02$ p = 0.09 $F_{(1,46)} = 5.52$					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA overall mean soil moisture pre rewatering mean soil moisture post re-watering mean soil moisture post re-watering mean soil moisture overall	F(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F(1,6) = 3.62 p = 0.11 m soil moisture F(1,6) = 18.90 p = 0.005 ** F(1,6) = 34.27 p = 0.0011 ** F(1,6) = 2.32 p = 0.18	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 * F_{(1,5)} = 14.25 p = 0.013 * F_{(1,21)} = 0.67 p = 0.42 F_{(1,30)} = 75.28 p < 0.0001 **** F_{(1,6)} = 22.11 p = 0.0033 ** F_{(1,46)} = 0.64 p = 0.43	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ $p = 0.010 *$ $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ $p = 0.21$ $F_{(1, 21)} = 0.07$ $p = 0.80$ $F_{(1,30)} = 48.15$ $p < 0.0001 ***$ $F_{(1,6)} = 4.02$ $p = 0.09$ $F_{(1,46)} = 5.52$ $p = 0.023 *$					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA overall mean soil moisture pre rewatering mean soil moisture post re-watering mean soil moisture post re-watering mean soil moisture overall Normalised rel	F(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F(1,6) = 3.62 p = 0.11 m soil moisture F(1,6) = 18.90 p = 0.005 ** F(1,6) = 34.27 p = 0.0011 ** F(1,6) = 2.32 p = 0.18 ative tuber wate	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 * $F_{(1,5)} = 14.25$ p = 0.013 * $F_{(1,21)} = 0.67$ p = 0. 42 $F_{(1,30)} = 75.28$ p < 0.0001 **** $F_{(1,6)} = 22.11$ p = 0.0033 ** $F_{(1,46)} = 0.64$ p = 0.43 er content	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ p = 0.21 $F_{(1,21)} = 0.07$ p = 0.80 $F_{(1,30)} = 48.15$ p < 0.0001 **** $F_{(1,6)} = 4.02$ p = 0.09 $F_{(1,46)} = 5.52$ p = 0.023 *					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA overall mean soil moisture pre rewatering mean soil moisture post re-watering mean soil moisture overall Normalised relative tuber water content	F(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F(1,6) = 3.62 p = 0.11 m soil moisture F(1,6) = 18.90 p = 0.005 ** F(1,6) = 34.27 p = 0.0011 ** F(1,6) = 2.32 p = 0.18 ative tuber wate F(1,6) = 13.65	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 * F_{(1,5)} = 14.25 p = 0.013 * F_{(1, 21)} = 0.67 p = 0. 42 $F_{(1,30)} = 75.28$ p < 0.0001 **** F_{(1,6)} = 22.11 p = 0.0033 ** F_{(1,46)} = 0.64 p = 0.43 er content F_{(1,78)} = 3.13	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ p = 0.21 $F_{(1, 21)} = 0.07$ p = 0.80 $F_{(1,30)} = 48.15$ p < 0.0001 **** $F_{(1,6)} = 4.02$ p = 0.09 $F_{(1,46)} = 5.52$ p = 0.023 * $F_{(1,78)} = 4.42$					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA overall mean soil moisture pre rewatering mean soil moisture post re-watering mean soil moisture overall Normalised relative tuber water content pre rewatering	F(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F(1,6) = 3.62 p = 0.11 m soil moisture F(1,6) = 18.90 p = 0.005 ** F(1,6) = 34.27 p = 0.0011 ** F(1,6) = 2.32 p = 0.18 ative tuber wate F(1,6) = 13.65 p = 0.010 *	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 * $F_{(1,5)} = 14.25$ p = 0.013 * $F_{(1, 21)} = 0.67$ p = 0. 42 $F_{(1,30)} = 75.28$ p < 0.0001 **** $F_{(1,6)} = 22.11$ p = 0.0033 ** $F_{(1,46)} = 0.64$ p = 0.43 er content $F_{(1,78)} = 3.13$ p = 0.081	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ p = 0.21 $F_{(1, 21)} = 0.07$ p = 0.80 $F_{(1,30)} = 48.15$ p < 0.0001 **** $F_{(1,6)} = 4.02$ p = 0.09 $F_{(1,46)} = 5.52$ p = 0.023 * $F_{(1,78)} = 4.42$ p = 0.039 *					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA overall mean soil moisture pre rewatering mean soil moisture post re-watering mean soil moisture overall Normalised relative tuber water content pre rewatering normalised relative tuber water content	F(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F(1,6) = 3.62 p = 0.11 F(1,6) = 18.90 p = 0.005 ** F(1,6) = 34.27 p = 0.0011 ** F(1,6) = 2.32 p = 0.18 F(1,6) = 13.65 p = 0.010 * F(1,6) = 2.64	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 * $F_{(1,5)} = 14.25$ p = 0.013 * $F_{(1,21)} = 0.67$ p = 0.42 $F_{(1,30)} = 75.28$ p < 0.0001 *** $F_{(1,6)} = 22.11$ p = 0.0033 ** $F_{(1,46)} = 0.64$ p = 0.43 er content $F_{(1,78)} = 3.13$ p = 0.081 $F_{(1,20)} = 22.00$	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ p = 0.21 $F_{(1,21)} = 0.07$ p = 0.80 $F_{(1,30)} = 48.15$ p < 0.0001 **** $F_{(1,6)} = 4.02$ p = 0.09 $F_{(1,46)} = 5.52$ p = 0.023 * $F_{(1,78)} = 4.42$ p = 0.039 * $F_{(1,20)} = 6.49$					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA overall mean soil moisture pre rewatering mean soil moisture post re-watering mean soil moisture overall Normalised relative tuber water content pre rewatering normalised relative tuber water content pre rewatering normalised relative tuber water content	F(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F(1,6) = 3.62 p = 0.11 m soil moisture F(1,6) = 18.90 p = 0.005 ** F(1,6) = 34.27 p = 0.0011 ** F(1,6) = 2.32 p = 0.18 ative tuber wate F(1,6) = 13.65 p = 0.010 * F(1,6) = 3.64 n = 0.011	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 * $F_{(1,5)} = 14.25$ p = 0.013 * $F_{(1,21)} = 0.67$ p = 0.42 $F_{(1,30)} = 75.28$ p < 0.0001 *** $F_{(1,6)} = 22.11$ p = 0.0033 ** $F_{(1,46)} = 0.64$ p = 0.43 er content $F_{(1,78)} = 3.13$ p = 0.081 $F_{(1,38)} = 23.00$ r < 0.0021 ***	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ p = 0.21 $F_{(1,21)} = 0.07$ p = 0.80 $F_{(1,30)} = 48.15$ p < 0.0001 **** $F_{(1,6)} = 4.02$ p = 0.09 $F_{(1,46)} = 5.52$ p = 0.023 * $F_{(1,78)} = 4.42$ p = 0.039 * $F_{(1,38)} = 6.49$ p = 0.02 **					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA overall mean soil moisture pre rewatering mean soil moisture post re-watering mean soil moisture overall Normalised relative tuber water content pre rewatering normalised relative tuber water content pre rewatering normalised relative tuber water content post re-watering normalised relative tuber water content post re-watering normalised relative tuber water content post re-watering normalised relative tuber water content post re-watering	F(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F(1,6) = 3.62 p = 0.11 m soil moisture F(1,6) = 18.90 p = 0.005 ** F(1,6) = 34.27 p = 0.0011 ** F(1,6) = 2.32 p = 0.18 ative tuber wate F(1,6) = 13.65 p = 0.010 * F(1,6) = 3.64 p = 0.11	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 * $F_{(1,5)} = 14.25$ p = 0.013 * $F_{(1,21)} = 0.67$ p = 0.42 $F_{(1,30)} = 75.28$ p < 0.0001 *** $F_{(1,6)} = 22.11$ p = 0.0033 ** $F_{(1,6)} = 0.64$ p = 0.43 er content $F_{(1,78)} = 3.13$ p = 0.081 $F_{(1,38)} = 23.00$ p < 0.0001 ***	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ p = 0.21 $F_{(1,21)} = 0.07$ p = 0.80 $F_{(1,30)} = 48.15$ p < 0.0001 **** $F_{(1,6)} = 4.02$ p = 0.09 $F_{(1,46)} = 5.52$ p = 0.023 * $F_{(1,78)} = 4.42$ p = 0.039 * $F_{(1,38)} = 6.49$ p = 0.02 **					
leaf tissue ABA pre re-watering leaf tissue ABA post re-watering leaf tissue ABA overall mean soil moisture pre rewatering mean soil moisture post re-watering mean soil moisture overall Normalised relative tuber water content pre rewatering normalised relative tuber water content post re-watering normalised relative tuber water content post re-watering normalised relative tuber water content post re-watering normalised relative tuber water content	F(1,6) = 2.19 p = 0.19 F(1,6) = 5.28 p = 0.061 F(1,6) = 3.62 p = 0.11 m soil moisture F(1,6) = 18.90 p = 0.005 ** F(1,6) = 34.27 p = 0.0011 ** F(1,6) = 2.32 p = 0.18 ative tuber wate F(1,6) = 13.65 p = 0.010 * F(1,6) = 3.64 p = 0.11 F(1,6) = 13.47	$F_{(1,6)} = 6.22$ p = 0.047 * $F_{(1,5)} = 14.25$ p = 0.013 * $F_{(1,21)} = 0.67$ p = 0.42 $F_{(1,30)} = 75.28$ p < 0.0001 *** $F_{(1,6)} = 22.11$ p = 0.0033 ** $F_{(1,46)} = 0.64$ p = 0.43 er content $F_{(1,78)} = 3.13$ p = 0.081 $F_{(1,38)} = 23.00$ p < 0.0001 *** $F_{(1,126)} = 5.15$	$F_{(1,6)} = 13.15$ p = 0.010 * $F_{(1,5)} = 2.04$ p = 0.21 $F_{(1,21)} = 0.07$ p = 0.80 $F_{(1,30)} = 48.15$ p < 0.0001 **** $F_{(1,6)} = 4.02$ p = 0.09 $F_{(1,46)} = 5.52$ p = 0.023 * $F_{(1,78)} = 4.42$ p = 0.039 * $F_{(1,38)} = 6.49$ p = 0.02 ** $F_{(1,126)} = 0.03$					

RM ANOVA outcome	treatment	time point	interaction				
Normalised tuber volume							
normalised tuber volume pre re-watering normalised tuber volume post re-watering normalised tuber volume overall	$F_{(1,6)} = 27.38$ p = 0.002 ** $F_{(1,6)} = 12.49$ p = 0.012 * $F_{(1,6)} = 9.48$ p = 0.02 *	$F_{(1,78)} = 19.18$ p < 0.0001 *** $F_{(1,38)} = 36.56$ p < 0.0001 *** $F_{(1,126)} = 39.66$ p < 0.0001 ***	$F_{(1,78)} = 31.98$ p < 0.0001 *** $F_{(1,38)} = 6.78$ p = 0.013 * $F_{(1,126)} = 2.17$ p = 0.14				
Normalised total tuber water content							
normalised tuber water content pre re-watering normalised tuber water content post re-watering normalised tuber water content overall	$F_{(1,6)} = 9.45$ p = 0.021 * $F_{(1,6)} = 3.63$ p = 0.11 $F_{(1,6)} = 3.69$ p = 0.10	$F_{(1,78)} = 9.02$ p = 0.0036 ** $F_{(1,38)} = 23.0$ p < 0.0001 *** $F_{(1,126)} = 16.43$ p = 0.0001 ***	$F_{(1,78)} = 12.12$ p = 0.0008 *** $F_{(1,38)} = 6.49$ p = 0.015 * $F_{(1,126)} = 0.03$ p = 0.86				



Supplementary Figure 1: Calibration curve of the soil water profiler for different soil water contents of the soil used in this experiment. Each symbol indicates the same soil with different amounts of water added.



Supplementary Figure 2: Soil water retention curve for the soil ("Kaldenkirchen soil with 10% sand) used in the experiment. Data from three independent measurement courses.

9. Supplementary data to Chapter 4



Supplementary Figure 3: Relation between volumetric soil water content (g/g) and soil moisture (%) measured with the WET sensor used in these experiments.



Supplementary Figure 4: Relation between soil moisture (%) measured with the WET sensor and soil water potential (MPa) measured with a psychrometer.



Supplementary Figure 5: Leaf area (A) and shoot dry weight (B) of three different potato genotypes compared to the wildtype in well-watered conditions (closed circles) and drying soil (open triangles). Means \pm SE of 4 plants per day and treatment. Data acquired in the conditions described in Chapter 4